<u>A Critical Assessment of the Portrayal of</u> <u>Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls Sectarian</u> <u>Rule Texts, and of the Evidence for the</u> <u>Presence of Women in the Qumran</u> <u>Community</u>

by Diane Stankaitis (1402208)

November 2024

CONTENTS

	Pag
ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	2
CHAPTER 1: SECTARIANISM/THE ESSENES	5
Sectarianism The Essenes Ancient Sources Philo Josephus Pliny	5 5 6 7 8
CHAPTER 2: PORTRAYAL OF WOMEN IN THE RULE TEXTS	11
Introduction to the Rule Texts Methodology Methodological Issues Overview of the Rule Texts The Rule of the Community (1QS) Introduction Marriage/Families Purity Covenant Renewal The Rule of the Congregation (1QSa) Introduction Assemblies/Renewal of Covenant Ceremony/Council Matters Life-Cycle Testifying Against a Husband	11 14 14 18 18 19 20 21 21 21 21 22
 The Damascus Document (CD, 4Q266-273, 5Q12, 6Q15) Introduction Purity The Sotah Treatment of Slave Women Marriage Divorce Sexual Relations and Transgressions Women's Oaths/Testifying Against a Husband The Sabbath Code Membership of the Group Education Positivity re Women Equality 	25 25 29 29 30 32 32 34 35 35 36 36 37

 Murmuring Against the Fathers and Mothers 	37
Summary	39
CHAPTER 3: THE PRESENCE OF WOMEN AT QUMRAN	40
Introduction • Methodological Issues/Considerations Qumran as a Communal Site • Alternatives to the Essene Hypothesis Qumran Site – Small Finds Cemetery • Number of Graves • Dating of Burials • Marrying Essenes/Family Tombs • Women	40 42 43 44 45 45 46 47 48
The Qumran Caves	51
Summary	54
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS	55
Portrayal of Women in the Sectarian Rule Texts Presence of Women at the Qumran Site	55 56
BIBLIOGRAPHY	58

ABSTRACT

The Dead Sea Scrolls were found between 1947 and 1956 in eleven caves close to the site of Qumran, which lies in the north-west area of the Dead Sea. The scrolls date from between the 3rd century BCE and the 1st century CE, and had remained in the caves untouched for some 2000 years.

The aims of this study are, firstly, to examine the portrayal of women in three sectarian scrolls: the Rule of the Community; the Rule of the Congregation, and the Damascus Document, although other sectarian texts, and a Wisdom text, Wiles of the Wicked Woman (4Q184) will be consulted where relevant, and, secondly, to uncover archaeological evidence for the presence of women at the Qumran site itself.

There is general consensus that Qumran was occupied by an Essene sect during the Second Temple period, although its exact function, and whether it comprised only celibate males, or included marrying sect members, remains uncertain. The ancient authors, Philo, Josephus and Pliny, all provided information about the Essenes, including the celibacy issue, but their writings, as well as the scrolls themselves, and the early reception history of the scrolls, were all androcentric in nature.

This research analysed the portrayal of women in the Rule texts using a multidisciplinary approach, focusing on Reception History and recent Feminist-Critical and Gender Studies methodologies, to ascertain their involvement in communities linked to the Dead Sea Scrolls (DSS communities), concluding that they did play an active role, although to a lesser extent, and with less authority, than men. Following this analysis, archaeological evidence that women formed part of the community from the Qumran site itself, including its architecture, the cemetery, and the nearby caves, was scrutinised, concluding that there is evidence for their presence, although this is limited.

INTRODUCTION

The site of Qumran lies some eight miles south of Jericho, in the north-west region of the Dead Sea, bordering the Judaean Desert. It is located on a marl plateau, with deep ravines to the south and west. It could only be accessed from the north and east, via an enclosure wall, some one-third of which comprises the site's architecture, with the remainder free-standing.¹

Qumran is considered one of the most significant sites in the Ancient Near-East, mainly because of the discovery of the Dead Sea Scrolls nearby between 1947 and 1956.² Some 900 manuscripts, in full or fragmentary form, were found in eleven caves, untouched for some 2000 years.³ Possible reasons for the scrolls being deposited in the caves are that they were used by the DSS communities as a library and/or archive facility, or to preserve the manuscripts ahead of the Roman invasion of 68CE.⁴ Many of the texts were imported from other locations, and were neither copied nor composed at Qumran.⁵

The scrolls date from between the 3rd century BCE and the 1st century CE, and comprise all books in the Hebrew Bible, except the book of Esther, plus a number of literary, as opposed to documentary, texts.⁶ They are significant because, until their discovery, no Israeli literary works written in either Hebrew or Aramaic had survived dating to between the mid-2nd centuries BCE and CE. They therefore have the capacity to shed light on Judaism in the Second Temple period.⁷ Father Roland de Vaux, the original excavator of the site, identified three phases for the site during this period, using archaeological, palaeographical and numismatic evidence: Period la, dated to the third quarter of the 2nd century BCE; Period Ib, dated to the last quarter of the 2nd century BCE to 31BCE, and Period II, dating from 4-1BCE to 68CE.⁸ This chronology is still considered valid.⁹

The scrolls have been split into a number of categories: Jewish literature pre the 3rd century BCE; sectarian and non-sectarian; biblical, non-biblical and

⁶ John Collins, 2016, p.1

¹ Kenneth Atkinson & Jodi Magness, 2010, p.323; Geza Vermes, 2011, p.1; Joan Taylor, 2012, p.323

² Dennis Mizzi, 2017a, p.93; Maxine Grossman, 2018, p.88; Magness, 2021, p.33

³ Geza Vermes, 2011, pp.1, 10; Grossman, 2018, p.88

⁴ Magness, 2021, p.37

⁵ Magness, 2021, p.37

⁷ Collins, 2016, p.1

⁸ Roland de Vaux, 1973, pp.5, 19-24, 33-41

⁹ Sidnie White Crawford, 2003b, p.140

apocryphal.¹⁰ Sectarian texts are a common category.¹¹ The scrolls provide little information concerning history or philosophy.¹²

Sectarian texts account for some 25% of the total, and were either composed or revised by members of the Qumran community itself.¹³ They include three Rule texts: the Rule of the Community (1QS), the Rule of the Congregation (1QSa) and the Damascus Document (CD, 4Q265-273, 5Q12, 6Q15), plus the War Scroll (1QM, 4QM), 4QMMT, the Temple Scroll (11QT), and the Thanksgiving Hymns (1QH^a, 1Q35, 4Q427-432).¹⁴ Two incomplete copies of the Damascus Document, dated to between the 10th and 12th centuries, were previously discovered in the Cairo *Genizah* in 1896.¹⁵ Two further scrolls, the Ritual of Marriage (4Q502) and 4QTohorotA (4Q274) could be considered sectarian, although are not universally accepted as such.¹⁶

The aims of this research are, firstly, to examine the portrayal of women in the three sectarian Rule texts, although other sectarian texts, and a Wisdom text, Wiles of the Wicked Woman (4Q184) will be consulted where relevant, and, secondly, the archaeological evidence for the presence of women at the Qumran site. The focus of the first aim is on the Rule texts, as they contain sermons, rules and norms for the Dead Sea Scrolls (DSS forthwith) communities, therefore rendering them the most appropriate for study.¹⁷

Chapter 1 discusses the concept of a sect, and the identification/nature of the sect most likely to have formed the Qumran community itself, as sect ideology should provide information concerning both the textual portrayal of women and their presence at the site. Chapter 2 analyses the portrayal of women in the Rule texts. Chapter 3 analyses the archaeological evidence for the presence of women at Qumran. Conclusions concerning the portrayal of women in the Rule texts, and their presence at Qumran, will be drawn in Chapter 4.

¹⁰ Crawford, 2003b, pp.127-150; Edna Ullman-Margalit, 2006, pp.58, 59; Devorah Dimant, 2009, pp.7-18; Magness, 2021, p.34

¹¹ Magness, 2021, p.34

¹² Collins, 2016, p.119; Grossman, 2018, p.88

¹³ Dimant, 2009, p.8; Vermes, 2011, p.11 n.30

¹⁴ Vermes, 2011, p.12; Magness, 2021, p.36

¹⁵ Solomon Schechter, 1910

¹⁶ Eileen Schuller, 1994, p.122; Crawford, 2003b, p.137; Emanuel Tov, 2004, p.90; Jessica Keady, 2019, pp.296, 297

¹⁷ Grossman, 2018, p.89

A multi-disciplinary approach will be adopted, with Reception History, Feminist-Critical, Gender Studies and Archaeological methodologies featuring prominently, although others, including Lived Ancient Religion, Embodiment, Sociological, and Anthropological, will also be consulted when needed. The purpose and use of the various Methodological underpinnings will be discussed in more detail in the relevant chapters. Evidence from ancient authors, particularly Philo, Josephus and Pliny, and from modern scholarship, will be analysed throughout.

CHAPTER 1 SECTARIANISM/THE ESSENES

Sectarianism

In the Second Temple period, "sect" pertained to a 'small religious group or community'.¹⁸ Although sect members may enjoy a common heritage with other groups, they may follow different social practices.¹⁹ Tensions could exist within individual sects, resulting from the complexities of the society concerned, and changing beliefs over time.²⁰ Sects require allegiance from their members in all aspects of their lives, with failure an ever-present possibility.²¹

Recently, the sociological features of sectarianism have featured prominently.²² In this context, the word "sect" indicates the severance of a particular group from the conventional.²³ The sect described in the sectarian scrolls, for instance, presents itself in opposition to Second Temple Period Judaism as practised in Jerusalem.²⁴ Jokiranta presents a strong argument for adopting a social-identity approach, which explores how a sect member regards his/her social identity within the sect, concluding that members identify as group members more than as individuals.²⁵ However, whilst the various sociological approaches are indispensable when studying both the Qumran site and the scrolls, care needs to be exercised when converting textual evidence into evidence for sects.²⁶

The Essenes

Following the discovery of the scrolls, the Qumran site was linked to the Essene sect, known from the ancient authors Pliny, Philo and Josephus, writing in the first-century CE.²⁷ The information they provide about the Essenes, and any issues contained therein, is detailed below. Archaeological evidence linking the Qumran community to the caves where the scrolls were found is also provided.

Early modern scholarship, particularly that focusing on the Rule of the Community, highlighted parallels between this text and the Essenes, giving rise to

¹⁸ Grossman, 2017, p.225; 2018, p.90

¹⁹ Grossman, 2017, p.226

²⁰ Grossman, 2017, p.243

²¹ Grossman, 2019, p.346

²² Eyal Regev, 2018; Dimant, 2014, pp.101-111

²³ Grossman, 2017, pp.235-239; David Chalcroft, 2018, pp.235-239

²⁴ Katharina Galor, 2014, p.23

²⁵ Jutta Jokiranta, 2010, pp.261-262

²⁶ Philip Davies, 2005, p.82; Ida Fröhlich, 2011, p.68

²⁷ Eleazar Sukenik, 1948, 1955; Taylor, 2012, p.vii; Timothy Lim, 2017, p.65; Nicholas Meyer, 2020, pp.279-280

the "Essene hypothesis", which links it to an isolated celibate male community at Qumran, whereas the Rule of the Congregation and the Damascus document concern marrying groups throughout Judaea.²⁸

Ancient Sources

Philo (c.30-15BCE-45CE)

Philo, writing in Greek, was the first ancient source to discuss the Essenes. He was from a prominent family, a figurehead in Alexandria's Jewish community during the late 30s/early 40s CE. Taylor considers that Philo considered the Essenes an excellent example of Judaism because of their devotion to the community and their self-control.²⁹ He lived concurrently with the Essenes, and his information concerning their ideology may have been correct, particularly because he had visited Judaea.³⁰ Moreover, Taylor argues that much of his readership could have verified or repudiated what he wrote, therefore being against his best interests to provide incorrect information.³¹ Magness, however, is not convinced that Philo ever visited Judaea, or had personal information concerning the Essenes.³²

In his work *Every Good Man is Free* (c.25CE) women are not mentioned. The Essenes inhabit villages, avoiding cities because of the inhabitants' immorality. They live in communities, welcoming outsiders with the same beliefs.³³ In his *Apology for the Jews* (c.40CE), however, Philo states that the Essenes inhabit many cities and villages in Judaea.³⁴ This could relate either to sect ideology changing over time, or to Philo's information about the sect. Their members are fully grown/elderly.³⁵ Taylor proposes that *Apology* 11.13 implies that some Essenes produced offspring before embracing celibacy.³⁶ They reject marriage, considering it a threat to their communal lifestyle, viewing women as selfish and jealous, who can adversely affect their husbands' morals. Having children can result in husbands acting in opposition to Essene ideology.³⁷ They live a communal life in all respects.³⁸ The *Apology* should

³³ Philo, *Prob.* XII 76

²⁸ Vermes, 1997, pp.34-35; Wassén, 2005, p.2, 2016b, p.103; Collins, 2016, p.152, 2021, p.114; Grossman, 2017, pp.229-230

²⁹ Taylor, 2012, p.48

³⁰ Taylor, 2012, p.22

³¹ Taylor, 2012, p.22

³² Magness, 2021, p.41

³⁴ Philo, *Hypoth*. 11.1

³⁵ Philo, *Hypoth.* 11.13

³⁶ Taylor, 2012, p.44

³⁷ Philo, *Hypoth*. 11.14-17

be treated cautiously, however, as it only exists preserved in Eusebius' *Praeparatio Evangelica* (c.312-322CE).³⁹

Josephus (37/38–100CE)

Josephus, also writing in Greek, was a historian from Jerusalem, a Jew, who wrote about the Essenes some 50-70 years after Philo.⁴⁰ Josephus came from an elite, priestly background, and was a commanding officer in the Jewish army during the first Jewish revolt against the Romans, but, after the 67CE surrender, went to live in Rome.⁴¹ In *Life*, Josephus claims personal knowledge of the Essenes, although his main discussions are in *The Jewish War* and *Jewish Antiquities*.⁴²

In the *The Jewish War* (c.76CE), Josephus states that the Essenes live all over the land, and, like Philo, that they welcome Essenes from elsewhere.⁴³ The Essenes scorned pleasure, viewing temperance and self-restraint as virtues. Marriage was treated contemptuously, they chose to adopt children, rather than having their own, and, whilst marriage and having children was not categorically eschewed, they were wary of women in terms of infidelity and promiscuity.⁴⁴ This supports Philo's description.⁴⁵ However, Josephus describes an Essene group who embraced marriage for procreation, not pleasure, considering that the group would cease to exist if marriage and producing offspring were banned.⁴⁶ Crawford argues that Josephus considered marriage standard practice, if only to procreate.⁴⁷ In this respect, a number of controls were put in place, to be discussed in Chapter 2.

In the *Jewish Antiquities* (c.93CE), Josephus states that the Essene sect comprised some 4000 members, and, like Philo, that they comprised male, non-marrying groups: they are all equal, committed to serving God, living virtuous lives, and sharing possessions.⁴⁸ In this text, written after the *Jewish War*, Josephus states

³⁸ Philo, *Hypoth*. 11.3-13

³⁹ Eusebio, *Praep. Evang.* 8.11.1-18

⁴⁰ Edward Cook, 1994, p.86; Kim, 2012, p.276; Taylor, 2012, p.49

⁴¹ Josephus, *Vit.* 1; Taylor, 2012, p.49; Magness, 2021, p.40

⁴² Josephus, *Vit.* 10, *BJ* 2.119-161, *AJ* 18-22

⁴³ Josephus, *BJ*2.124-125; Philo, *Prob.* XII 85

⁴⁴ Josephus, *BJ*2.121

⁴⁵ Philo, Hypoth. 11.14-17

⁴⁶ Josephus, *BJ*2.160-161; Taylor, 2012, pp.69-70

⁴⁷ Sidnie White Crawford, 2020, <u>https://baslibrary.org/biblical-archaeology-review/46/2/5</u>

⁴⁸ Josephus, AJ18.18-22; Philo, Hypoth. 11.4

that the Essenes do not marry, again perhaps indicating a change in sect ideology, or previous information being incorrect.⁴⁹

Taylor identifies Josephus' sources as his own knowledge and experiences of the Essenes, arguing that both the *Jewish War* and *Jewish Antiquities* portray his personal views concerning Jewish history, with the aim of highlighting the positive traits of Judaism to a non-Jewish, Roman audience.⁵⁰

There are a number of correlations between the works of Philo and Josephus, leading Taylor to suggest that they may have used a common source. Although possible, *Jewish Antiquities* was written some 50 years after Philo was writing, and Josephus may have used him as a source.⁵¹ Atkinson and Magness have also identified many parallels between Josephus' works, the sectarian texts and the archaeological remains at Qumran.⁵² However, it is noteworthy that Josephus was writing some 200 years after the earliest version of the Rule of the Community, and that a number of redactions of this text, and the Damascus Document, occurred, to cater for developments over time in Essene ideology: information provided by first-century CE authors did not necessarily apply in the first-century BCE.⁵³

Pliny the Elder (c.23–79CE)

Pliny, a Roman scholar from an elite background, had a distinguished military career, and was an administrator of the Roman provinces. He was stoical, traditional, a moderate thinker, naturalist and esteemed geographer.⁵⁴ His description of the Essenes is significant because of his personal status, and because he wrote in Latin, although expressing no real passion for Judaism.⁵⁵

Pliny refers to the Essenes in one paragraph of his *Natural History*, published in 77CE, shortly after Josephus' *Jewish War*.⁵⁶ He locates the Essenes west of the Dead Sea, although neither Philo nor Josephus provides information concerning an Essene community close to the Dead Sea.⁵⁷

⁴⁹ Josephus, AJ18.20

⁵⁰ Taylor, 2012, p.58

⁵¹ Taylor, 2012, p.39

⁵² Atkinson & Magness, 2010, pp236, 329-331, 333-336

⁵³ Atkinson & Magness, 2010, p.341

⁵⁴ Taylor, 2012, p.130; Magness, 2021, p.41

⁵⁵ Taylor, 2012, p.13

⁵⁶ Pliny, *HN* 5.15.73; Taylor, 2012, p.130

⁵⁷ James VanderKam & Peter Flint, 2009, p.242; Taylor, 2012, p.132; Magness, 2021, p.41

Magness disputes, however, that Pliny had personal knowledge of the region, and depended on the others' sources.⁵⁸ Kim disagrees, arguing that Pliny's information was obtained whilst travelling in Judaea.⁵⁹ Taylor further argues that, as a non-Jew, Pliny would not have had access to Philo's and Josephus' sources, relying on hearsay or secondary sources.⁶⁰

Pliny describes the Essenes as an isolated group, who practised celibacy and had no money. No children were born into the sect, with the population being perpetuated by incomers.⁶¹ Pliny's account differs from those of Philo and Josephus, in that his Essenes are considered "oddities", and are not acclaimed.⁶² Taylor describes Pliny's portrayal of the Essenes as an "exaggerated caricature", a "parody".⁶³ Magness, however, suggests that Pliny admired them because their asceticism rendered them "exotic and different".⁶⁴

To summarise, whilst only Pliny places the Essenes in a location near the Dead Sea, evidence from the ancient authors, combined with evidence from the sectarian scrolls, positively supports the theory that the Essenes formed the Qumran community.

Connection Between the Qumran Community and the Scrolls

Archaeological evidence linking the Qumran community with the caves where the scrolls were discovered is also persuasive. A connection between the Qumran community and the scrolls has previously been considered problematic, because no scrolls were discovered at the site, leading some scholars to deny a connection between the site and the caves where the scrolls were found.⁶⁵ However, a positive connection has now been established, evidenced by the same types of pottery being discovered in the caves and at the site, including a type unique to Qumran, and seven caves being carved to store jars for scrolls (4Qa-b, 5Q, 7Q-10Q), with shelving installed in 4Qa and 4Qb.⁶⁶ The absence of scrolls/fragments at the site of Qumran can be explained by a fire in 68CE.⁶⁷ Moreover, some 20-40 artificial caves

⁵⁸ Magness, 2021, p.42

⁵⁹ David Kim, 2017, p.276

⁶⁰ Taylor, 2012, p.133

⁶¹ Pliny, *HN* 5.15.73

⁶² Taylor, 2012, pp.132-133

⁶³ Taylor, 2012, pp.132-133

⁶⁴ Magness, 2021, p.42

⁶⁵ Magness, 2021, pp.44, 45

⁶⁶ Magness, 2021, p.45; Robert Feather, 2012, p.68

⁶⁷ Magness, 2021, p.45

were carved into the marl plateau near Qumran during the Second Temple period occupation, with a network of pathways leading from Qumran to both the natural and marl caves, and with staircases to the marl caves constructed into the cliffs.⁶⁸

There is therefore strong archaeological evidence that the site buildings and both marl and natural caves comprise one site/occupation area, within Qumran's archaeological boundaries, independent of scroll evidence.⁶⁹

⁶⁸ Magen Broshi & Hanan Eshel, 2004, pp.321-332, 325; 1999, pp.328, 325

⁶⁹ Crawford, 2012, pp.9, 13, 22; Taylor, 2011b, p.4

CHAPTER 2

PORTRAYAL OF WOMEN IN THE RULE TEXTS

Introduction

Crawford writes that, until recent decades, 'the juxtaposition of the words "women", "Dead Sea Scrolls" and "Qumran" in the same title would have seemed like an oxymoron'.70

Methodology

Before discussing the portrayal of women in the Rule texts, the methodological approaches adopted will be discussed. This research comprises multi-disciplinary methodologies, with Reception History, Feminist-Critical and Gender Studies being particularly prominent, although others, including Lived Ancient Religion, Embodiment, Sociological, Anthropological, and, in Chapter 3, Archaeological, are also included.

Reception History concerns how the study of religious texts changes across time within 'different cultures, through transmission, translation, or reading, retelling and reworking'.⁷¹ It does not depend on the author's agenda or audience, but on an individual historian's interests and the questions posed.⁷² An awareness of an individual's agendas and biases is therefore necessary when interpreting the evidence.⁷³ Reception History is especially useful for analysing the Dead Sea Scrolls, as it can highlight factors which may have influenced scrolls scholarship.⁷⁴

Scrolls scholarship was the preserve of all-male, androcentric, Christiancentric scholars for several decades, who assumed that the scrolls had been written by men, for men.⁷⁵ Magness agrees strongly, noting that de Vaux, and others involved in the publication of the scrolls, were all-male, Roman catholic priests, and because Philo, Josephus and Pliny held androcentric and misogynistic views.⁷⁶ She also argues that early modern scholarship believed the Qumran community to be

⁷⁰ Crawford, 2003b, p.127

⁷¹ Brennan Breed, www.bibleodyssey.org/bible-baics/what-is-reception-history, accessed 21st October, 2021 ⁷² Cheryl Exum, 2000, p.87; Hans-Georg Gadamer, 2004, p.296; Mark Knight, 2010, p.139; Matthew Collins, 2011, p.229

⁷³ Grossman, 2010, p.245 74 Collins, 2011, pp.226-269

⁷⁵ Grossman, 2010, p.230

⁷⁶ Magness, 2021, p.196

celibate, and so discouraged the inclusion of matters relating to women from gender or feminist studies.⁷⁷

However, since the early 1990s, scholars started to incorporate references to women in the scrolls, with female scholars playing an active part in the analysis both of the scrolls and the site.⁷⁸

Feminist-Critical methodology has contributed considerably to scrolls scholarship in recent times, by 'rethinking the basic cultural frames through which the evidence has been interpreted'.⁷⁹ It accepts that, in androcentric texts, the male is the norm, and the female the deviation from the norm.⁸⁰ However, textual references to "men" or "man" could relate to people in general.⁸¹ Moreover, androcentric writings can hide social actualities, and the lack of references to women therein does not necessarily mean that women are not included in some way.⁸² Importantly, this methodology can alter literary models/norms and stimulate the recognition that gender constructions are entangled in power dynamics associated with particular socio-cultural factors.⁸³ It is important, however, that, when critiquing the beliefs of others, one's own views are not imposed when interpreting the evidence.⁸⁴

Therefore, applying a Feminist-Critical approach when reading the scrolls may reveal some remarkable possibilities, indicate that women were "hidden" therein, actively participated in, and carried out significant roles in the DSS Communities, including the Qumran community itself.⁸⁵In addition, interpretations which account for the ever-changing and evolving nature of sects permit an awareness of alternative socio-historical factors.⁸⁶ A Feminist-Critical reader needs to heed the uncharted space existing between texts and the real lives of sect members, with gender matters apparent in texts possibly constituting tensions, not historical realities.⁸⁷

The term "gender" represents the place an individual holds within their community, whilst a person's "sex" is generally determined biologically, although the

⁷⁷ Magness, 2021, p.196

⁷⁸ Galor, 2014, p.21

⁷⁹ Grossman, 2010, p.238

⁸⁰ Grossman, 2010, p.241

⁸¹ Grossman, 2010, p.241; Taylor, 2011, pp.172-173

⁸² Grossman, 2010, p.241

⁸³ Grossman, 2010, pp.231, 235

⁸⁴ Grossman, 2010, p.239

⁸⁵₂₆ Grossman, 2017, p.225

⁸⁶ Grossman, 2017, p.225

⁸⁷ Grossman, 2017, p.246

two interact throughout an individual's lifespan.⁸⁸ Anthropologically speaking, in the past, women have been considered more affiliated with nature rather than culture, because they give birth, and because of matters concerning fertility and menstruation.⁸⁹ However, anthropologists nowadays do not view gender as relating solely to women's bodily processes, but also to the ways societies are structured and organised, and how they interpret gender matters.⁹⁰ The general consensus is that gender and gender relations are social and cultural constructions, serving to perpetuate social boundaries.⁹¹

Gender relations are significant to sect members in terms of rules and regulations, settling tensions between sect and family, and strengthening religious dedication.⁹² Moreover, gender relations within sects can fluctuate over time.⁹³

Related to Reception History, Collins considers gender to be important in scrolls scholarship, arguing effectively that there may have been different interpretations if early scholars had included women: this lack of female scholars in early scrolls scholarship would have affected the marginalisation of women in the texts.⁹⁴

Another issue concerning gender in the scrolls relates to purity. Purity matters feature prominently in the Rule texts, playing a significant role in the socio-economic-religious lives of DSS communities.⁹⁵ Keady, adopting methodologies from Gender Studies, Embodiment and Masculinity Studies, presents a strong argument that purity (and impurity) issues be addressed from both male and female viewpoints, with purity being considered a gendered topic.⁹⁶ Purity matters will be addressed when examining the individual Rule texts below.

Lived Ancient Religion is a comprehensive approach, concerning a person's religious experiences, including their relationship with objects, texts and places, and is particularly useful in revealing the social aspects of religion.⁹⁷ Embodiment links material and bodily experiences, and is useful in interpreting the live of ancient

⁸⁸ Keady, 2017, pp.9-10, 2019, p.298; Helen Hatchell, 2007, p.232

⁸⁹ Judith Basker, 2012, p.358; Keady, 2019, p.297

⁹⁰ Keady, 2019, p.298

⁹¹ Regev, 2018, p.301; Keady, 2017, p.10

⁹² Regev, 2018, p.301

⁹³ Grossman, 2002, p.47; Regev, 2018, p.302

⁹⁴ Collins, 2011, pp.237-238

⁹⁵ Joseph Baumgarten, 1999, p.29; Crawford, 2003b, p.135; Keady, 2017, pp.31, 38

⁹⁶ Keady, 2017, pp.2-3, 11-12, 57

⁹⁷ Janico Albrecht et al, 2020, p.2; Georgia Petridou, 2017, p.138; Valentino Gasparini et al, 2020, p.4

peoples and identifying socio-cultural differences.⁹⁸ The human body is the "subject" of culture, not the "object".⁹⁹ Keady considers the DSS communities to be embodied.¹⁰⁰ Sociological methodology, including socio-cultural, socio-religious, social-scientific and social identity approaches, emphasises the need to understand the sectarian texts in terms of their "social" and "text" worlds.¹⁰¹ However, it is important to consider the insider's views relating to social roles, world views and group dynamics.¹⁰² Anthropological methodology involves the comparative study of socio-cultural aspects of people, human diversity and commonalities.¹⁰³ <u>Methodological Issues</u>

Crawford has identified three important issues concerning the portrayal of women in the sectarian texts.¹⁰⁴ Firstly, the scrolls are fragmentary and do not provide a comprehensive picture. Secondly, the texts were written by men, for men, and may reflect their ideal situation, not the reality of women's lives, and that the scrolls assume an "androcentric social order", generated by the elite. Thirdly, their androcentric language does not necessarily indicate a reality comprising males only.¹⁰⁵ Keady argues convincingly that, whilst elites have often been the scholarly focus when linking the ancient texts and communities, resulting in the lives of non-elite people lacking representation, the scrolls do portray communities comprising both classes, and can be informative in the context of the lives of the Essenes in the Second Temple period.¹⁰⁶

Overview of the Rule Texts

As discussed previously, there has been disagreement as to whether the Essenes were celibate or marrying, and this remains a subject of debate today.¹⁰⁷ Several scholars have argued that Josephus' marrying group is the one represented in the Rule of the Congregation and the Damascus Document.¹⁰⁸ The Rule of the

- ¹⁰³ Thomas Hylland Eriksen, 2017, p.3
- ¹⁰⁴ Crawford, 2003b, p.128
- ¹⁰⁵ Crawford, 2003b, pp.128-130
- ¹⁰⁶ Keady, 2017, p.1
- ¹⁰⁷ Collins, 2021, p.111

⁹⁸ Christopher Tilley, 1994, p.4; Keady, 2017, p.38

⁹⁹ Thomas Csordas, 1990, pp5-47; Keady, 2017, p.11

¹⁰⁰ Keady, 2017, p.57

¹⁰¹ Jokiranta, 2010, p.246

¹⁰² Jokiranta, 2010, p.248

 ¹⁰⁸ VanderKam, 1994, pp.57, 91; Frank Cross, 1995, pp.70-71; Philip Davies & Joan Taylor, 1996, pp.223-235;
 Wassén, 2005, p.5, 2016a; Regev, 2008, pp.253-284; Taylor, 2011, pp.171-190; Joseph. *BJ*2.160-161

Community, whilst not mentioning women and children specifically, does not, however, confirm that the group was celibate.¹⁰⁹

De Vaux considered it feasible that celibacy rules changed over time.¹¹⁰ Grossman agrees, proposing the possible existence of tensions within the sect concerning marriage and sexual behaviour, implying social change over time.¹¹¹ Different copies of the Rule texts contain variations, indicating either change across time, or inter-group ideology differences.¹¹² Grossman considers celibacy and marriage as having a complex relationship, and not as complete opposites.¹¹³

Nati argues that textual variations may be the result of, not chronological development, but of different rules applying in different locations.¹¹⁴ Collins proposes that the Qumran community has been wrongly considered an isolated community, and that the Rule texts relate to multiple communities within the Essene sect.¹¹⁵ Schofield also argues that the Essene sect was widely spread geographically, with each version operating within a different cell, although concedes that her argument is conjectural.¹¹⁶ Hempel proposes that texts are written for diverse reasons, with all versions applying simultaneously: they are literary products, and should not be viewed from a linear perspective.¹¹⁷

The view that the Essene sect comprised two separate groups has altered considerably, as a result of adopting Feminist-Critical and Gender Studies methodologies, and because texts published in recent decades have revealed discussions pertaining to women, their bodily functions and sexual relations.¹¹⁸ Wassén therefore concludes that the Essenes should be viewed as comprising both married and unmarried members, with marriage being considered the norm.¹¹⁹ Earlier, Schuller also considered that marriage was standard practice, with Kim further arguing that the Rule texts demonstrate that women were protected by the sect's laws, and that women did form part of the DSS communities, although

¹¹⁵ Collins, 2016, p.3

¹⁰⁹ Wassén, 2016a, p.127; Collins, 2016, p.15

¹¹⁰ de Vaux, 1973, pp.128-129

¹¹¹ Grossman, 2018, p.95

¹¹² Grossman, 2018, p95, 2019, p.341

¹¹³ Grossman, 2019, p.342

¹¹⁴ James Nati, 2016, pp.920, 922

¹¹⁶ Alison Schofield, 2009, p.6

¹¹⁷ Charlotte Hempel, 2013, pp.109-119

¹¹⁸ Schuller, 1994, p.118; Keady, 2017, p.31, 2019, p.302; Wassén 2016a; Grossman, 2018, p.94

¹¹⁹ Wassén 2016a, p.128

perhaps classified differently from men.¹²⁰ Cansdale further points out that, whilst women both formed part of, and had a role within, the DSS communities, their actions and status were controlled by its male leaders.¹²¹ As Kim points out, women were viewed in terms of being wives, sisters, servants and seductresses, capable of being wise and wily, pure and impure.¹²² Nevertheless, it remains uncertain whether the laws outlined in the Rule texts present a true reflection of a community's social reality.¹²³

In addition to issues relating to celibate/marrying Essenes, two other topics relevant to the portrayal of women in the Rule texts play a significant role, and these relate to sexual relations/behaviours and purity issues.

Firstly, concerning sexual relations, Grossman argues convincingly that a specific policy concerning sexuality exists in the Rule texts, representing their social ideology, which includes heterosexuality, choice of marriage partner, vetting of potential brides, divorce, new sexual relationships after divorce or the death of a spouse, and reporting by a wife of a husband's transgressions, particularly of a sexual nature.¹²⁴ The Rule texts also concede that sect members experience problems complying with such regulations, and are always in danger of non-compliance.¹²⁵

Secondly, concerning purity, many rules refer to female bodily functions/discharges such as menstruation and giving birth.¹²⁶ Bodily functions are ingrained in societies, and are significant concerning matters relating to purity and gender in the Rule texts.¹²⁷ Keady argues that methodologies such as Embodiment and Masculine Studies can identify issues related to both the impure male and female.¹²⁸ She further argues that female menstruation be considered empowering: when females were segregated during their periods, they probably bonded with each other, swapped anecdotes, and enjoyed long rest periods, a point which anthropological studies have neglected, linking menstruation to pollution.¹²⁹

¹²⁰ Schuller, 1996, pp.252-254; Kim, 2012, p.280

¹²¹ Cansdale, 1994a, p.143

¹²² Kim, 2012, p.180 n.46

¹²³ Moshe Bernstein, 2004, pp.119-121; Rob Kugler & Esther Chazon, 2004, p.171; Cansdale, 1994a, p.142

¹²⁴ Grossman, 2018, pp.97-98

¹²⁵ Grossman, 2018, p.98

¹²⁶ Crawford, 2003b, p.131

¹²⁷ Stevi Jackson & Susie Scott, 2001, p.9

¹²⁸ Keady, 2017, p.37

¹²⁹ Keady, 2017, pp.124-125; Eisha Penne & Étienne van der Walle, 2001, pp.viii-xxxix

In terms of purity, women have often been considered as embodying different social practices from men, and, whilst Shildrick has argued that the "leaking" female body exceeds "safe boundaries", Keady is more convincing, arguing that, whilst female "leaking" is predictable, the "leaking" of male bodily fluids is not, rendering them insecure and not in control of their actions.¹³⁰

¹³⁰ Magrit Shildrick, 1997, p.16; Keady, 2017, pp.126-127

The Rule Of The Community (1QS)

Introduction

Eleven comparatively intact columns of the Rule of the Community were discovered in Cave 1, ten fragments in Cave 4 (4Q255-264), and two in Cave 5.¹³¹ It is considered one of the earliest sectarian texts, with the various versions probably written between 100BCE and 75BCE.¹³² It is the only sectarian text which makes no mention of women, except in 1QS XI, 17, 21, where a male is referred to as 'the son of Thy handmaid', and 'one born of woman'. This has been considered evidence for a male, celibate community.¹³³

However, recent research regarding the inclusion of women in the DSS communities has been undertaken, using Feminist-Critical and Gender Studies methodologies. Grossman has argued convincingly that women were incorporated into the sect, but, whilst excluded from the text due to its androcentric nature, were "hidden" therein.¹³⁴ Moreover, Taylor proposes that the androcentric terminology does not necessarily represent social reality, arguing that, as "man" in both English and Hebrew can mean "human", women were not necessarily excluded.¹³⁵ However, in an androcentric "text-world", a gender-inclusive approach was unlikely to have been held by the writers or their readership.¹³⁶

Concerning "hidden" women, Taylor identifies a passage where Covenant members are ordered to refrain from looking with 'lustful eyes', concluding this to be an order not to look at women for inappropriate sexual reasons.¹³⁷ Similar instructions occur in the Damascus Document.¹³⁸ Keady stresses that the male is responsible for evading sin, with women not portrayed as the villains in this scenario.¹³⁹ She further proposes that this may relate to men not treating women as commodities, and to restraining their sexual impulses during a woman's menstrual period, not to male celibacy.¹⁴⁰

¹³¹ Vermes, 2011, p.97

¹³² Vermes, 2011, p.97

 ¹³³ Schuller, 1998, pp.117-118; Esther Fuchs, 2004, pp.1-20; Taylor, 2011a, p.173; Kim, 2012, p.195; Grossman, 2017, p.231; Keady, 2017, p.69

¹³⁴ Grossman, 2011, pp.497-512, 2015, pp.265-287, 2017, p.231

¹³⁵ Taylor, 2011a, pp.172-173; Genesis 1:27, 5:1-2

¹³⁶ Taylor, 2011a, p173; Grossman, 2015, pp.265-287; Crawford, 2003b, p.173

¹³⁷ Taylor, 2011a, p.177; 1QS I, 6

¹³⁸ Taylor, 2011a, pp.173-174; CD II:16

¹³⁹ Keady, 2017, p.71; 1QS II, 11, 17

¹⁴⁰ Keady, 2017, p.71

From a gender perspective, Keady proposes that, although women are not specifically mentioned in 1QS, men are set against each other, not against females, and that threats posed by women in other texts, such as Wiles of the Wicked Woman (4Q484) may be implied in 1QS.¹⁴¹ Crawford suggests that the Two Spirits Treatise was influenced by 4Q484.¹⁴² It portrays the female as a seducer of men, a formidable temptress, who causes ordinary folk to disobey God.¹⁴³ The female portrayed in 4Q484 embodies lawlessness, affecting the male's role in the community, contrary to his usual virtuous presentation.¹⁴⁴

Other passages in the Rule of the Community which could include hidden references to women include 1QS I, 17-18, 24-26, II, 3-5 and X, 21, concerning Belial's reign, particularly because two of the nets of Belial, discussed in the Damascus Document concern female sexuality.¹⁴⁵

Marriage/Families

Marriage is neither mentioned, nor legislated for, in the Rule of the Community. Whilst mention of marriage could be expected if a community comprised celibate males, they may not have been a concern, as marriage was irrelevant, although, again, one might have expected this to be specified.¹⁴⁶

In 1QS IV, 7 "fruitfulness" is considered a blessing, which Taylor argues is androcentric language, referring to semen emission and the resultant offspring.¹⁴⁷ In the Rule of the Community, the Two Spirits Treatise refers to the group's descendants, and it seems unlikely that group members would not enjoy such a blessing by living in a male celibate group.¹⁴⁸ Moreover, the Two Spirits Treatise concerns all humanity, thereby including both men and women.¹⁴⁹ However, as discussed above, group members may have adopted children, or had their own before joining the group.

Purity

Unlike in the Rule of the Congregation and the Damascus Document, no rules or regulations exist in the Rule of the Community relating to menstruation or post-

¹⁴¹ Keady, 2017, pp.89, 91

¹⁴² Crawford, 1998, pp.355-366; 1QS III, 13-IV:26

¹⁴³ Raewyn Connell & James Messerschmidt, 2005, pp.829-859; Keady, 2017, pp.88-89; 4Q484 I 1,12,14,19

¹⁴⁴ Keady, 2017, p.89; Scott, 2009

¹⁴⁵ Keady, 2017, p.71; CD IV:16-19

¹⁴⁶ VanderKam, 2010, p.118

¹⁴⁷ Taylor, 2011a, p.177

¹⁴⁸ Taylor, 2011a, p.177; 1QS III, 13-IV,26

¹⁴⁹ Taylor, 2011a, p.178

childbirth bodily discharges, although neither is there mention of male bodily discharges resulting from male impurity.¹⁵⁰

There is a reference to water, which is related to purity, in 1QS III, 7-9: 'when his flesh is sprinkled with purifying water and sanctified by cleansing water', which could be another hidden reference to women, as both 4Q274 I 1.7 and 11Q19 XVIII, 16 both note that women could be purified by water.¹⁵¹ Furthermore, as Keady points out, Frevel & Nihan have argued effectively that purity issues are connected with both hygiene/ritual matters and gender-bias, and may therefore form a part of the daily lives of both men and women.¹⁵²

Covenant Renewal

Individuals were obliged to adhere to the ideology and requirements of the sect.¹⁵³ Details of the Annual Assembly and Covenant Renewal ceremonies are outlined in 1QS I, 16 – III, 12, and could imply the inclusion of women.¹⁵⁴ 1QS II, 19-25, for instance, outlines hierarchical aspects of the Renewal ceremony, with priests entering first, the Levites second, and finally 'all the people'. Keady interprets this phrase as gender-neutral, thereby including women.¹⁵⁵ The content and language of this section resemble that in the Rule of the Congregation.¹⁵⁶

¹⁵⁰ Taylor, 2011a, pp.184-185

¹⁵¹ Keady, 2017, p.76

¹⁵² Christian Frevel & Christophe Nihan, 2013, p.10

¹⁵³ Michael Knibb, 1987, p.91; Keady, 2017, p.71; 1QS I 16-18

¹⁵⁴ Keady, 2017, p.71

¹⁵⁵ Keady, 2017, p.73

¹⁵⁶ 1QSa 1:4

The Rule of the Congregation (1QSa)

Introduction

The Rule of the Congregation formed part of the same scroll as the Rule of the Community.¹⁵⁷ It is short, complete, but badly preserved, and contains scribal inaccuracies, resulting in translation issues.¹⁵⁸ It dates to the mid-1st century BCE, and was amongst the first to be published.¹⁵⁹ Some scholars consider this text to be the result of a number of redactions, perhaps indicating changes in sect ideology over time.¹⁶⁰ Nevertheless, Grossman considers it an ideal work for examining cultural norms and gender roles in DSS communities.¹⁶¹ Contrary to the Rule of the Community, it presumes the presence of women and children in these communities, with the rules applying to all Israelites in the eschatological age.¹⁶²

Assemblies/Renewal of Covenant Ceremony/Council Matters

1QSa opens by detailing the sect's ceremonial events, specifically mentioning women and children.¹⁶³ This follows both biblical predecessors and the Damascus Document.¹⁶⁴

1QSa I:27 includes women in community assemblies, although Ilan notes that this passage, like others, has been repeatedly emended to appertain to men only.¹⁶⁵ No impure person can enter assemblies, or hold office in the congregation.¹⁶⁶

<u>Life-Cycle</u>

1QSa I:6-16 concerns the life-cycle of sect members, including details about education, marriage and adult responsibilities.

1QSa I:8-9 concerns older children enrolling into the Congregation, with both Wassén and Ilan arguing persuasively that both young men and women were included, because 1QSa I:4-5 declares that women are permitted to attend the Covenant Renewal ceremony.¹⁶⁷

¹⁵⁷ Vermes, 2011, p.159; VanderKam, 2010, p.117

¹⁵⁸ Vermes, 2011, p.159

¹⁵⁹ Vermes, 2011, p.159; Grossman, 2010, p.232

¹⁶⁰ Grossman, 2010, p.232; Hempel, 1996, pp.253-267

¹⁶¹ Grossman, 2010, p.232, 232 n.5

¹⁶² Grossman, 2010, pp.231-232; 1QSa I:1-3

¹⁶³ Cansdale, 1994a, p.144; Crawford, 2003b, p.139; Wassén, 2005, p.137; Keady, 2017, p.162; Magness, 2021, p.200; 1QSa I:4-5 ¹⁶⁴ Wassén, 2005, pp.137-138; Deuteronomy 29:10-11; 31:9-13; Nehemiah 10:28-29; CD XV; CD XV

¹⁶⁵ Ilan, 2010, pp.138-139

¹⁶⁶ 1QSa II:4

¹⁶⁷ Wassén, 2005, pp.142-143; Ilan, 2011, p.68

Wassén proposes that girls could attend educational classes concerning Covenant ideology, with both young men and women, at 20, being eligible to enrol into the Congregation alongside their parents.¹⁶⁸ Grossman points out, however, that the masculine singular is used in these passages, questioning whether daughters were included in the education system, although Wassén is probably correct in arguing for the inclusion of girls because the education passage follows immediately after that on ceremonial assemblies, which includes both sexes.¹⁶⁹ Wassén also cites Josephus' statement that all Essene children received instruction in holy writings, purity matters and teachings of the prophets.¹⁷⁰ Also, as discussed previously, "male" references could relate to both sexes, and it is feasible that, due to its poor state of preservation, the text has been emended, and male references inserted.¹⁷¹

1QSa I:10-16 is more oriented towards men, with women portrayed more passively.¹⁷² This passage states that a man under 20 cannot have sexual relations with a woman, although no age of consent is provided for women.¹⁷³ The age of 20 is also cited in the Damascus Document, and Regev argues that setting a minimum age implies the significance given to a person's maturity, and knowing right from wrong, before marriage, indicating that marriage was taken seriously.¹⁷⁴ Individuals can work on behalf of the Congregation at 25, and at 30 can participate in legal proceedings and judgements.¹⁷⁵.

Although males are the main focus in this section, Keady argues that, postpuberty, a young female's life may already have been mapped out, pre-decided by her gender, and could account fr female impurities not featuring in the list of afflictions preventing admission into the Congregation.¹⁷⁶ Like in the Rule of the Community, this could relate to the "hidden" women scenario.

Testifying Against a Husband

1QSa I:11 has been much debated, with disagreement over whether women could testify against their spouses in legal matters, particularly sexual

¹⁶⁸ Wassén, 2005, p.142; 1QSa I:6-7; 1QSa I:8-9

¹⁶⁹ Grossman, 2010, p.234; Wassén, 2005, pp.141-142

¹⁷⁰ Wassén, 2005, pp.166-167; Joseph. *BJ*2.159

¹⁷¹ Taylor, 2011a, pp.172-173

¹⁷² Keady, 2017, p.162-165

¹⁷³ Grossman, 2019, p.352; Cansdale, 1994a, p.144; Crawford, 2003b, p.132

¹⁷⁴ Regev, 2018, p.310, 310 n.31: CD IX:23, X:2, XV:16-17

¹⁷⁵ 1QSa I:8-9; 1QSa I:13-15

¹⁷⁶ Keady, 2017. p.164; 1QSa II:3-10

transgressions, as men's sexual behaviour was restricted to the marital setting.¹⁷⁷ There are correspondences in the Damascus Document concerning sexual transgressions.¹⁷⁸ Although no details are provided concerning the supervision of a man's sexual behaviour pre-marriage, post-marriage it could be controlled by the prospect of his spouse testifying against him.¹⁷⁹ This portrays women as posing a threat, indicating that sect loyalty was more important than loyalty to a spouse.¹⁸⁰ Nevertheless, Keady points out that, because of their minimal roles, women's testimonies against their husbands would hardly have posed too great a threat to the society's patriarchy.¹⁸¹

Some early interpretations of the passage denied that women would be permitted to testify against men, as this was virtually unknown from Jewish writings, if at all, although, as discussed in Chapter 1, sects often opposed mainstream religious ideology.¹⁸². However, a Feminist-Critical approach permits a different interpretation, considering elements not accounted for by an androcentric reading.¹⁸³ Nevertheless, whilst Feminist-Critical methodology can reveal much about the portrayal of women in the context of testifying, care should be taken not to exceed the social norms/realities existing at the time.¹⁸⁴

It is evident that the Reception History of 1QSa I:11 demonstrates a high degree of gender-bias. Whilst the original editors of the text accepted that women were able to testify, later, all-male scholars, denied that women could testify, considering it improbable that women had such power in the community, citing scribal error and text emendation.¹⁸⁵ However, another early scholar supports the view that the passage concerns women, opposing the scribal error theory.¹⁸⁶ Grossman also proposes that, given the poorly-preserved state of the text, there is no convincing evidence of scribal error.¹⁸⁷

- ¹⁸² Grossman, 2019, p.234
- ¹⁸³ Grossman, 2010, p.234
- ¹⁸⁴ Grossman, 2017, p.240
- ¹⁸⁵ Dominique Barthélemy & Jozef Tadeusz, 1955, p.112; Baumgarten, 1957, pp.266-269; Schiffman, 1983, pp.62-63; Regev, 2018, p.324

¹⁷⁷ Grossman, 2010, pp.229-245, 2019, pp.11, 352

¹⁷⁸ Grossman, 2017, pp.239-240; 4Q270 VII:12-13

¹⁷⁹ Grossman, 2019, p.352

¹⁸⁰ Ilan, 2011, p.68

¹⁸¹ Keady, 2017, p.164

¹⁸⁶ Neil Richardson, 1957, p.119

¹⁸⁷ Grossman, 2010, p.237

More recent scholars favour the unamended text.¹⁸⁸ Interestingly, some scholars consider that only women are allowed to give testimony against their husbands, not vice-versa, indicating that women could only testify concerning private, marital matters, possibly relating to sexual purity.¹⁸⁹ Grossman, however, proposes that their testimonies could concern any form of transgression.¹⁹⁰ Finally, in the context of reception history, Ilan comments that 'interpretation of this text has gone from complete disbelief to complete acceptance of its credibility'.¹⁹¹

 ¹⁸⁸ Schuller, 1999, p.133; Crawford, 2003b, p.138; Keady, 2017, p.20
 ¹⁸⁹¹⁸⁹ Abel Isaksson, 1965, p.7; Philip Davies & Joan Taylor, 1996, p.227; Crawford, 2003b, p.138

¹⁹⁰ Grossman, 2017, p.240

¹⁹¹ lan, 2010, pp.138-139

The Damascus Document (CD, 4Q266-273, 5Q12, 6Q15)

Introduction

Many fragments of the Damascus Document were discovered in the Qumran caves, although two incomplete copies were previously discovered in a Cairo synagogue *genizah*, one being compatible with the 4Q fragments.¹⁹² Vermes argues for a composition date of around100BCE, although Hempel suggests a date somewhere between the late-2nd century BCE and the mid-1st century CE.¹⁹³ It is generally acknowledged to be a foundational text amongst the sectarian scrolls, and as relating to an Essene sect comprising men, women and children.¹⁹⁴ Magness argues that the Damascus Document portrays marriage and family as the norm, with Wassén noting that many of its laws relate to women, particularly concerning sect membership, oaths, purity and marriage.¹⁹⁵ Hempel, however, proposes that DSS communities comprised different groups at different stages of their evolution, thereby possibly affecting earlier theories that they comprised both celibate and marrying groups.¹⁹⁶

The Damascus Document, including the 4Q fragments, was important to the DSS communities because it was regularly copied, both before and during Qumran's period of occupation.¹⁹⁷ It focuses on laws relating to families, religion, community life, and the consequences of disobeying them.¹⁹⁸ Similar rules and regulations relating to the inclusion of women and children in the community are evident in the Rule of the Congregation, with Hempel feasibly suggesting that both texts emanated from the same, or allied, cultural and social groups.¹⁹⁹

Grossman identifies the Damascus Document as the main source of information concerning gender and women in the sectarian texts, proposing that, by examining gender issues within it, its androcentric nature, consequent effects on the communities' make-up, and relationship between the sexes, can be addressed.²⁰⁰

¹⁹² Vermes, 2011, p.127; Keady, 2017, p.107

¹⁹³ Vermes, 2011, p.3; Hempel, 2000, p.3

¹⁹⁴ Carol Newsom, 1990, pp.167-187; Dimant, 2009, pp.7-18; Wassen, 2005, p.27; Joseph Angel, 2013, p.2975

¹⁹⁵ Magness, 2021, p.200; Wassén, 2005, p.1

¹⁹⁶ Hempel, 2000, p24; Keady, 2017, p.107

¹⁹⁷ Keady, 2017, p.108

¹⁹⁸ VanderKam, 2010, p.118; Vermes, 2011, pp.128-129; Angel, 2013, p.2975

¹⁹⁹ Wassén, 2005, p.21; Hempel, 1996, pp.253-269; Keady, 2017, p.108

²⁰⁰ Grossman, 2002, pp.42-43, 2017, p.234

She demonstrates effectively that the construct of gender, as portrayed in the texts, indicates ever-changing social, realities, a view supported by Kugler & Chazon.²⁰¹ Grossman also suggests that the same could apply to men, as the portrayals of both sexes, from a Reception History viewpoint, mirror the aims and ideologies of authors and editors, adding that concepts of gender may change over time, and that readers of the Damascus Document may have interpreted the text differently.²⁰²

As demonstrated below, the role/status of women in the DSS communities was complex, on occasions contradictory, with women sometimes portrayed as subordinate to men, sometimes as equals, and sometimes as protected; by adopting various Sociological, Feminist-Critical and Gender Studies methodologies, the view that Essene women were always underrated or isolated in the community can be successfully challenged.²⁰³ The portrayal of women in the Damascus Document will now be analysed. The portrayal of men will also be considered, in order to achieve a more balanced view.

<u>Purity</u>

In this context, by studying the portrayal of both sexes, a wider understanding of their day-to-day lives should be achievable.²⁰⁴ Male impurities could have more ramifications socially, as men participated more in community activities than women, making them more vulnerable when ritually impure.²⁰⁵ Additionally, male impurities can be unpredictable, whilst those of women are more predictable, making impurities more problematic for males than females.²⁰⁶ Moreover, androcentric accounts concerning female impurity may have resulted in negative emotions, with Keady proposing that, in terms of Embodiment, women may have experienced the opposite, with female impurity empowering women, noting that anthropological studies have not addressed how purity and social laws can result in female bonding.²⁰⁷

Two fragmentary texts, 4Q266 and 4Q272, address impurity issues concerning male and female genital discharges, including seminal emissions,

²⁰¹ Grossman, 2004, pp.212-239; Kugler & Chazon, 2004, p.172

²⁰² Grossman, 2002, pp.46-47

²⁰³ Wassén, 2005, pp.11-14

²⁰⁴ Keady, 2017, p.123

²⁰⁵ Keady, 2017, p.123

²⁰⁶ Keady, 2017, p.123

²⁰⁷ Keady, 2017, pp.123-124; Rosemary Radford Ruether, 1990, p.10

menstruation, abnormal bleeding in females, childbirth, and discharges postpartum.²⁰⁸

Purity issues relating to genital discharges of men and women, plus childbirth, are addressed in 4Q266 6 I 14 - II 4, although the text's fragmentary nature creates problems in terms of interpretation and reconstruction, with Wassén pointing out than some ten lines relating to childbirth are missing.²⁰⁹

4Q266 II 1-4 concern sexual relations with either an impure, menstruating women or a woman with abnormal bleeding, resulting in a man's impurity if he has sexual relations with either.²¹⁰ A woman undergoes a seven-day period of impurity resulting from genital bleeding, is forbidden both from eating sacred food and entering the Temple until after sunset on the following day.²¹¹ This is significant, because, whilst seemingly portraying women as a threat, it also implies that women could both eat sacred food and enter the Temple when ritually pure.

4Q266 6 II 5-13 concerns childbirth.²¹² This passage, mainly reconstructed, states different rules, depending on whether a woman gave birth to a boy or a girl. If a boy is born, the mother is impure for 7 days, and the boy has to be circumcised on the eighth day, whereas, if a girl is born, the mother is impure for 14 days, indicating that girls are considered inferior to boys. Again, the woman is prohibited from consuming sacred food or entering the Temple.²¹³

4Q266 6 I 11 concerns the use of wet-nurses. Baumgarten proposes that a baby was fed by a wet-nurse while its mother was impure post-partum.²¹⁴ Wassén disagrees, citing a number of convincing reasons: the practice is unknown in Jewish sources; health reasons (breast milk is best); a mother's milk could have dried up before her impurity period expired, resulting in a wet-nurse having to be employed for the whole nursing period; lack of availability of wet-nurses, and cost to parents.²¹⁵ Moreover, with high mortality rates in ancient times, Wassén does not accept that laws would be brought in which might increase such rates, suggesting that wet-

²⁰⁸ Wassén, 2005, pp.45-46; Grossman, 2019, p.353

²⁰⁹ Wassén, 2005, pp.46, 51

²¹⁰ Wass n, 2005, p.52

²¹¹ 4Q266 6 II 4

²¹² Wassén, 2005, p.51

²¹³ Wassén, 2005, p.55

²¹⁴ Baumgarten, 1994, pp.3-10

²¹⁵ Wassén, 2005, pp.56-57

nurses may only have been employed if there were a problem, perhaps a woman being unable to lactate, or a mother's death during childbirth.²¹⁶

4Q272 1 II 3-18 concerns the transmission of impurity by both sexes from genital discharges.²¹⁷ Lines 3-7 relate to laws concerning the acquisition of impurity by touching, or being touched by, an impure male.²¹⁸ The discharges are, firstly, a man with an abnormal seminal discharge (a *zav*), and, secondly, seminal emission resulting from masturbation/lustful thoughts.²¹⁹

4Q272 1 II 8, concerns acquiring impurity either by touching a menstruating woman (a *niddah*), or anything her blood may have contacted.²²⁰ As with a *zav*, the touch of a *niddah*, and a *zavah* (a woman with an abnormal discharge), results in impurity, portraying men and women as equal concerning the laws relating to the transference of impurity by touch.²²¹

The references to purity issues in 4Q272 and 4Q266 indicate their importance to the authors of the texts and contemporary Jewish ideology.

There is no mention of impure males and females being isolated, possibly signifying that those rendered impure by genital discharges or childbirth did not experience periods of exclusion, with no special places existing to accommodate the impure.²²²

The Temple Scroll also addresses purity issues. Menstruating women, and following childbirth, are excluded from the community because of their impurity.²²³ The emission of bodily fluid also renders the male vulnerable in terms of 'personal, sexual, social and spatial consequences', putting him on an equal footing with the impure female.²²⁴

In 4QTohorot A, males and females are portrayed as being equally impure in the context of female menstruation and males with a flux.²²⁵ Keady also argues

²¹⁶ Wassén, 2005, p.57-58

²¹⁷ Wassén, 2005, p.51

²¹⁸ Wassén, 2005, p.48

²¹⁹ Wassén, 2005, p.48

²²⁰ Crawford, 2003b, p.136; Wassén, 2005, p.50; Keady, 2017, p.113

²²¹ Wassén, 2005, pp.50-51

²²² Wassén, 2005, p.104

²²³ 11QT LX VI 12-16; Magness, 2021, p.200; Keady, 2017, p.155; Crawford, 2003b, p.155

²²⁴ Keady, 2017, p.15

²²⁵ 4Q274 I i-x; Keady, 2019, pp.305-306

persuasively that, from both a social and gendered perspective, the rules could have impacted the male more, with impurity threatening his masculinity.²²⁶

The Sotah (4Q270 4 1-12)

Wassén describes this as a cruel ritual, performed by a priest, involving a husband taking his wife to the Temple if he suspects her of adultery; she has to drink "water of bitterness" to ascertain her guilt or innocence.²²⁷ Whilst Wassén considers the ritual humiliating for the wife, she accepts that she might be attributing modern views concerning women's public humiliation to those in ancient times.²²⁸

However, some evidence of adultery is required before a wife is brought to the Temple, and she can defend herself if she claims she has been raped.²²⁹ Wassén further suggests that preliminary investigations might have been performed before the ritual.²³⁰ Such controls may have existed to afford the wife protection, out of respect for the Temple institution, and to prevent a curse being used casually.²³¹ This could be interpreted as fair treatment of women, but also as a women being portrayed as a threat to her husband, resulting in punishment if found guilty.

Treatment of Slave Women

Several laws concern female slaves. In the Sabbath Code, it is stated that no maidservant, manservant or labourer should be reprimanded on the Sabbath.²³² Whilst females are portrayed as equal to men in this context, Wassén feasibly argues that the purpose of this law is to maintain the peace of the Sabbath, and does not necessarily concern the slaves' welfare.²³³ Another law regulates the sale of both male and female slaves to gentiles, thereby treating them as possessions, although their human status is recognised by confirming that both sexes were included in the "covenant with Abraham".²³⁴

Female and male slaves are therefore portrayed as enjoying equal status. However, Wassén argues that it is difficult to decipher/interpret laws relating to sexual relations with female slaves, because of this passage's fragmentary nature.²³⁵

²²⁶ Keady, 2019, p.311

²²⁷ Wassén, 2005, p.61; 4Q270 4 5-6

²²⁸ Wassén, 2005, p.61 n.52

²²⁹ 4Q270 4 2-3

²³⁰ Wassén, 2005, pp.67-68, 103

²³¹ Wassén, 2005, p.103

²³² CD XI 10-12

²³³ Wassén, 2005, p.70

²³⁴ Wassén, 2005, pp.70-71; CD XI 10-11

²³⁵ Wassén, 2005, p.68; 4Q270 4 12-21

Nevertheless, she proposes that 4Q270 4 14 relates to female slaves who belong to other men, resembling Leviticus 19:20-22, whereby a man is punished if he has sexual relations with another man's slave, although the crime is not adultery, but an infringement of property rights, as slaves are considered possessions.²³⁶

<u>Marriage</u>

The Damascus Document stipulates several pre-marriage requirements. Regev argues that these both safeguarded the sect's security and ideology, and underlined the importance of marriage to the sect.²³⁷ Grossman describes marriage, as portrayed in the sectarian texts, as 'androcentric and heteronormative', with a female being portrayed based on their position in their husband's or father's household.²³⁸ Whilst the texts assume marriage to be standard practice, they appear to distinguish between sect members who marry, live in camps and have children, and others who do not, implying that marriage is not the only option.²³⁹ <u>Selection of Marriage Partner</u>

This topic is addressed in 4Q269 9, 4Q270 5 and 4Q 271 3. In the latter, the prospective bride's father must reveal any imperfections she may have, but must forbid her from marrying any man deemed unsuitable.²⁴⁰ This portrayal indicates that both the potential suitor and bride were afforded some protection from unsuitable matches. Indeed, Grossman presents a strong argument that these rules imply a desire for compatibility and a lasting marriage, noting that reference to the emotions is atypical in a mainly policy-based text.²⁴¹

The rules for selecting a spouse highlight the need for a chaste female, portraying a patriarchal interpretation of the marriage bond between the sexes, evidenced by the stipulation that a woman's imperfections have to be specified before a marriage can take place.²⁴²

Divorcees are nowhere identified as potential brides.²⁴³ Moreover, it is specified that females who have engaged in extra-marital marriage, as widows or

²³⁶ Wassén, 2005, p.69; Lev. 19:20-22; Exod. 21:9-10; Deut. 22:23-27

²³⁷ Regev, 2018, p.306

²³⁸ Grossman, 2019, pp.347-348; 4Q271 3 10-15, 4Q269 9 4-8, 4Q270 5 17-21

²³⁹ Crawford, 2003b, p.131; CD VI 6-7

²⁴⁰ Grossman, 2017, p.236, 2019, p.150; Wassén, 2005, p.89

²⁴¹ Grossman, 2019, p.150

²⁴² Wassén, 2005, p.89; 4Q271 3 7-9

²⁴³ Grossman, 2017, p.236

before marriage, are inappropriate bride choices.²⁴⁴ This signifies that the only appropriate potential brides are virgins, or females who have not had sexual intercourse after becoming widows.²⁴⁵ In this context, male sexual behaviour is not considered.²⁴⁶ The portrayal of female sexual behaviour pre-marriage can therefore be considered androcentric and demeaning towards women.

Trustworthy Women

Single females of dubious character have to undergo examination by 'trustworthy and knowledgeable' women to confirm their virginity before being allowed to marry.²⁴⁷ This practice is otherwise unknown in the Second Temple period.248

The portrayal of these trustworthy women is noteworthy. Whilst they held some authority in the group, they seemingly supported the patriarchy in terms of a woman being a virgin prior to marriage, implying their involvement in endorsing the oppression of women.²⁴⁹ Nevertheless, although it is not stated whether the method of assessment was verbal, physical, or both, if verbal evidence was used, the female could be viewed as an actor in her own right.²⁵⁰ Moreover, because male sect members were obliged to accept the trustworthy woman's findings, these women were influential in the patriarchy in a social context.²⁵¹ Additionally, a man was prohibited from discussing the findings.²⁵²

Grossman argues that, from a Feminist-Critical standpoint, whilst this practice could be interpreted as positively locating "hidden" women, it also indicates that women were subjected to contemporary power dynamics and gender norms.²⁵³ Marriage as a Business Transaction

CD XIII 15-16 and 4Q266 9 ii 4 indicate that marriage and divorce were considered business transactions, thereby portraying women as possessions: the

²⁴⁴ Grossman, 2017, p.236, 2019, p.351; 4Q271 3 11-12

²⁴⁵ Regev, 2018, p.306; Grossman, 2019, p.351

²⁴⁶ Wassén, 2005, p.89

²⁴⁷ Crawford, 2003b, p.138; Wassén, 2005, p.89; Regev, 2018, p.307; Grossman, 2017, p.237, 2018, p.97, 2019, p.351; 4Q271 3 13-15 ²⁴⁸ Grossman, 2019, p.351

²⁴⁹ Wassén, 2005, pp87-89; Ilan, 2010, p.137

²⁵⁰ Grossman, 2017, p.239

²⁵¹ Grossman, 2017, p.239

²⁵² 4Q271 3 15-16; Grossman, 2017, p.237, 2018, p.97, 2019, p.351

²⁵³ Grossman, 2017, p.239

Examiner had to be notified about, and would oversee, such transactions.²⁵⁴ Additionally, a man must seek counsel when embarking on business transactions, including marriage, although it is unclear whether the Examiner gave only counsel, or permission too.²⁵⁵ However, the term "counsel" is used only in the context of business transactions and marriage, whilst the lines concerning divorce only refer to teaching, providing insight and advice, leading Wassén to conclude that divorce was taken seriously and that the Examiner had to provide his approval, with a husband not being able to divorce his wife independently.²⁵⁶

Therefore, whilst women were considered possessions in the context of marriage and divorce, it is also evident that the Examiner had great authority over males in the community.

Divorce

A group member cannot marry a second wife whilst the first is still alive.²⁵⁷ There has been much debate about whether this relates to polygyny or remarriage after divorce.²⁵⁸ The Temple Scroll specifies that a man can only marry once, unless his wife dies, after which he can marry again, from his father's family.²⁵⁹

Divorce is permitted, but required the Examiner's consent.²⁶⁰ Grossman proposes, however, that whilst divorce cuts off the social attachment, the sexual link remains, implying that divorce is as polygynous as simultaneous marriage to another woman.²⁶¹ This emphasises the uncertainty in the phrase 'they shall be caught in fornication twice by taking a second wife whilst the first is alive'.²⁶²

Sexual Relations and Transgressions

Regulations concerning marriage and sexual relations are closely linked because, contemporaneously, sexual intercourse was only legal within marriage, and occurred purely to procreate; many of these regulations reflect contemporary Jewish views of correct sexual behaviour.²⁶³ However, CD IV 6 differs from contemporary Jewish groups, specifying three sexual transgressions: fornication; close-kin

²⁵⁴ Collins, 1997, pp.104-162; Wassén, 2005, pp.105, 160; Grossman, 2017, p.236

²⁵⁵ CD XIII 16; 4Q266 9 III 5; Wassén, 2005, p.160

²⁵⁶ Wassén, 2005, pp.162, 164

²⁵⁷ CD IV20 – V6

²⁵⁸ e.g. Vered Noam, 2005, pp.206-223; Grossman, 2019, p.352

²⁵⁹ 11QT LVII 17-20; Crawford, 2003b, p.134

²⁶⁰ Grossman, 2019, p.352; CD XIII 17

²⁶¹ Grossman, 2019, pp.352, 353; CD IV 20-V

²⁶² CD IV 20; Grossman, 2019, pp.352-353

²⁶³ Crawford, 2003b, p.134

marriages, and defiling the Temple.²⁶⁴ CD VII 11-17 chastises rule-breakers, but all three transgressions demonstrate tensions in Second Temple period Judaism, when ideology was changing.²⁶⁵

The Damascus Document specifies a number of controls over sexual behaviour in a number of circumstances, possibly relating to sect members having sexual intercourse for pleasure, not procreation.²⁶⁶ These include the Examiner's control over marriage and divorce, intercourse with a pregnant wife, which could relate to purity issues or concern for the unborn child/mother-to-be, and the banning of sex in daylight hours and on the Sabbath.²⁶⁷ Penalties for disobeying the laws were severe; a husband found guilty of fornication was permanently excluded from the community.²⁶⁸

Fornication

Two types are identified, and concern illegal marriages. The first concerns marrying a second wife if the first wife is still alive, and the second concerns uncleniece/aunt-nephew marriages.²⁶⁹ As discussed above, scholars disagree about the interpretation of the first, although there is general consensus that it concerns either polygyny or re-marrying after divorce, but possibly that a man could only marry once, even if his wife had died.²⁷⁰ The Temple Scroll includes the king in this ruling.²⁷¹ Ilan proposes that only polygyny was prohibited.²⁷² The same topic is covered in 4Q266 9 iii 5, and could also be interpreted as either prohibiting divorce, or serial monogamy.²⁷³

A law prohibiting polygyny could have been welcomed by female sect members, as polygyny would presumably have created tensions amongst the wives.²⁷⁴ Moreover, as the only wife, she would not have had to share her husband, or possessions, with other spouses.²⁷⁵

²⁶⁴ Grossman, 2018, p.91; CD IV 16; CD V 8-11; CD V 6-7

²⁶⁵ Lutz Doering, 2009, pp.133-163; Schiffman, 2011, pp.547-569; Grossman, 2018, p.93

²⁶⁶ Grossman, 2019, pp.354-355

²⁶⁷ Grossman, 2018, p.96; 2019, pp.344, 354; CD XIII 16-17; 4Q270 2 ii 15-16; 4Q270 2 i 18-19

²⁶⁸ Grossman, 2018, p.96; 4Q270 7 i 12-13

²⁶⁹ CD IV 20-21; CD V 9

²⁷⁰ Grossman, 2018, p.92

²⁷¹ Crawford, 2003b, p.133; 11QT VII 7 17-19

²⁷² Ilan, 2010, p.134

²⁷³ Crawford, 2003b, p.133

²⁷⁴ Wassén, 2005, p.128

²⁷⁵ Wassén, 2005, p.129

Rules concerning fornication, therefore, whilst possibly restricting the sexual autonomy of the male, do appear to protect the female. Regev argues that, from a Feminist-Critical approach, such laws protected the female from being abused by her husband, although Wassen considers the rule both androcentric and patriarchal, and assumes fornication to be male-initiated.²⁷⁶

Close-Kin Marriages

CD V 9-11 prohibits both uncle-niece and aunt-nephew marriages.²⁷⁷ Closekin marriage rules are also outlined in the Temple Scroll.²⁷⁸ Both Ilan and Grossman consider it notable that the text includes marriage restrictions which highlight genderequality.²⁷⁹

Defiling the Temple

Grossman considers that this refers to a man having sexual intercourse with his wife when she is menstruating or experiencing other bleeding.²⁸⁰

Women's Oaths/Testifying Against a Husband

Sexual behaviour curbed by laws prohibiting sex for lustful purposes indicate that this could only be discovered if a wife divulged them.²⁸¹ CD XVI 10-12 concerns oaths taken by a wife, stipulating that a husband/father can only nullify an oath taken by a wife/daughter if it violates Covenant law. This portrays a woman as being empowered.²⁸² A husband cannot invalidate his wife's oath if 'he does not know if it should be fulfilled or annulled', contrary to the rules in both the Temple Scroll and a Wisdom text, which provide scenarios in which a wife's oath can be nullified or upheld.²⁸³

As in 1QSa I:8-11, a wife could testify against her spouse resulting from his inappropriate sexual behaviour, or any other transgression.²⁸⁴ Whilst this portrays the woman as having authority over her husband, it more likely again demonstrates the importance of loyalty to the sect over that to her husband.

²⁷⁶ Regev, 2018, p.302; Wassén, 200, p.181

²⁷⁷ Crawford, 2003b, pp.132-133; Grossman, 2017, p.235

²⁷⁸ 11QT LXVI 12-17

²⁷⁹ Ilan, 2010, p.135; Grossman, 2019, p.349

²⁸⁰ Grossman, 2018, p.92; CD V 6-7

²⁸¹ Wassén, 2005, pp.181-182

²⁸² Wassén, 2005, pp.92-93

²⁸³ Schiffman, 1991, pp.206-212; Wassén, 2005, p.93; 11QT LIII 11-14a; 11QT LIII 146-LIV 7; 4Q416 2 iv 7b-10a

²⁸⁴ 4Q269 12:4-5; 4Q270 11:11-13; Taylor, 2011a, p.175

The Sabbath Code

Four laws in the Sabbath Code relate to women.²⁸⁵ Firstly, CD XI 4 bans "intermingling" on the Sabbath. Wassén interprets this as referring to sexual intercourse, a view supported by Qimron & Strugnell, although others disagree, with Schiffman arguing that "intermingling" prohibits individuals from entering into partnerships.²⁸⁶ Wassén's view that it refers to sexual intercourse is the more convincing, as the Sabbath requires ritual purity, and does not necessarily indicate a negative perception of sexual intercourse per se.²⁸⁷

Secondly, and thirdly, CD XI 9b-11, with parallels in 4Q270 6 v 15-15 and 4Q271 5 i 5-7, specify laws prohibiting the carrying of perfume/spices, and infants, on the Sabbath. Although these laws are written in the masculine, Wassén speculates that they refer to women, although acknowledges that the law concerning carrying children could relate to any caregiver, indicating that men participated in childcare.²⁸⁸

The fourth law concerns the treatment of slaves, discussed above.

Membership of the Group

CD XV5 – XVI2 and 4Q266 8 i 1-10 pertain to membership of the group. Two factors denote full membership: swearing the oath at the initiation ritual, and participating in communal assemblies. Concerning the former, there is some debate as to whether the reference in CD XI 5-7 should be interpreted as referring to "their boys" or "their children", although Wassén argues convincingly that the latter, gender-inclusive language, is correct.²⁸⁹ As she point out, 1QSa I:4-9 indicates that both male and female offspring pledged the oath of the Covenant, making it likely that this interpretation also applies to CD XV5, and also included women, particularly because women do not feature in the list of exclusions in 4Q266 8 i 6-9.²⁹⁰ This list of exclusions is similar to those in 1QSa II 4-9 and 1QM VII 3-4, although the latter does exclude women from entering the war camp.²⁹¹ Both Wassén and Yadin argue

²⁸⁵ CD X 14-XI 18

²⁸⁶ Wassén, 2005, pp. 94-95; Elisha Qimron & John Strugnell, 1994, p.140; Schiffman, 1975, pp.109-110

²⁸⁷ Wassén, 2005, pp.97, 104

²⁸⁸ Wassén, 2005, p.97

²⁸⁹ Wassén, 2005, p.134

²⁹⁰ Wassén, 2005, pp.134-135

²⁹¹ Wassén, 2005, p.144

that women were prohibited from entering the war camp because they threatened men's purity.²⁹²

Education

Wassén argues convincingly that girls were included in the Examiner's teaching, supporting the instruction in 1QSa I:4 above.²⁹³ She argues that girls are included because of the importance of all individuals understanding the laws in order to uphold group ideology and community lifestyle.²⁹⁴

Positivity re Women

CD XIV 12-17 outlines rules for supporting vulnerable individuals, including virgins without close family.²⁹⁵ Both Murphy and Stegemann view this as referring to females without a dowry, and probably orphans.²⁹⁶ However, the customary word for "orphan" is not used, with Vermes using the word "fatherless", interpreted by Wassén as a youth with no support.²⁹⁷ This humanitarian act portrays vulnerable individuals, including women, as receiving help.²⁹⁸

However, widows do not feature. Stegemann suggests that this omission indicates that they were protected under family law, supporting the depiction of a close-knit community.²⁹⁹

The passage highlights the differing financial needs of vulnerable young males and females, with the male requiring general financial support and protection, whilst the female received money purely for a dowry.³⁰⁰ This emphasises the importance of a woman marrying, with the repercussions of not finding a husband being catastrophic, as she would be unable to comply with the societal expectations of becoming a mother, possibly resulting in her becoming a slave or a prostitute.³⁰¹

²⁹² Wassén, 2005, pp.152-153; Yigael Yadin, 1962, p.71

²⁹³ Wassén, 2005, p.166; 4Q266 9 III 6-7

²⁹⁴ Wassén, 2005, p.167

²⁹⁵ Cansdale, 1994, p.145; Wassén, 2005, p.170

²⁹⁶ Catherine Murphy, 2002, p.84; Hartmut Stegemann, 1998, p.189

²⁹⁷ Vermes, 2011, p.145; Wassén, 2005, p.170

²⁹⁸ Wassén, 2005, p.169

²⁹⁹ Stegemann, 1998, p.189; Wassén, 2005, p.170)

³⁰⁰ Wassén, 2005, p.170

³⁰¹ Wassén, 2005, p.170

<u>Equality</u>

Cansdale identifies occasions where males and females experienced equal treatment: both had to be respected and were prohibited from wearing each other's clothing. She also suggests that scribes could be male or female.³⁰²

Murmuring Against the Fathers and Mothers (4Q470)

The identity of the Fathers and Mothers is unknown.³⁰³ Both Knibb and Baumgarten consider "Fathers" an honorary title given to senior sect members, Capper proposes that the terms concern old and vulnerable sect members who need support, whilst Ilan considers them a group of men and women holding honorific titles within the community.³⁰⁴ No scholar views the terms as relating to biological parents.³⁰⁵

Wassén argues that both Mothers and Fathers held authority within the group, and protected group members, although the Fathers' authority outweighed that of the Mothers, but that the Mothers were particularly influential amongst female group members.³⁰⁶ Grossman argues that, whilst 4Q270 7 i 13-15 portrays Mothers as having some equality with Fathers, they are nevertheless depicted as having no authority in the Covenant congregation, implying disagreement amongst group members, in that, whilst female witnesses safeguarded marital practices, male leaders may have disapproved.³⁰⁷

Anyone complaining about the Fathers was permanently excluded from the community, whereas those complaining about the Mothers were only excluded for 10 days.³⁰⁸ This disparity highlights the difference in status accorded to Fathers and Mothers.³⁰⁹ However, the fact that punishment existed at all portrays Mothers as enjoying some status and authority.³¹⁰ Nevertheless, whilst reliable and honourable women held some powers in order to promote group ideology and legislation, group tensions might have resulted.³¹¹

³⁰² Cansdale, 1994a, p.14; 4Q159 2-4; 4Q416; 4Q418 fr.10

³⁰³ Wassén, 2005, p.185

³⁰⁴ Michael Knibb, 1999, p.1:138; Joseph Baumgarten, 1992, p.27; Brian Capper, 2003, p.103; Ilan, 2010, p.137

³⁰⁵ Wassén, 2005, p.185; Crawford, 2003b, p.178

³⁰⁶ Wassén, 2005, pp.196, 197

³⁰⁷ Grossman, 2019, p.351

³⁰⁸ Wassén, 2005, pp. 188, 189

³⁰⁹ Wassén, 2005, p.197; Regev, 2018, p.322

³¹⁰ Crawford, 2003a, p.180; Schuller, 1994, p.122

³¹¹ Grossman, 2019, p.242

Grossman considers this passage significant from a Feminist-Critical perspective because it portrays both men and women sharing roles in the DSS communities, adding to the evidence for women both as witnesses and as possessing public roles.³¹² However, although the text demonstrates more inclusivity and influence for females than might be expected from an androcentric text, the evidence is still presented as both chauvinistic and misogynistic.³¹³

Grossman considers that the role of the Mothers could be linked to the "trustworthy and knowledgeable women" discussed previously, with both terms relating to older, dependable women in the group, who held influence and authority.³¹⁴

The Wiles of the Wicked Woman portrays the female differently from the Mothers in the Damascus Document. In this text, the female is portrayed as a seductress who traps men, leads them astray and causes them to self-destruct.³¹⁵

³¹² Grossman, 2010, p.244

³¹³ Grossman, 2010, p.244

³¹⁴ Grossman, 2017, pp.241-242

³¹⁵ 4Q184, 1-2, 17; Melissa Aubin, 2001, p.23; Kim, 2012, p.279; Cansdale, 1994a, p.147; Grossman, 2004, p.230-231

<u>Summary</u>

This chapter examined the portrayal of women in the Sectarian Rule Texts: the Rule of the Community; the Rule of the Congregation, and the Damascus Document. Conclusions will be drawn in Chapter 4. However, to summarise, their portrayal in these texts demonstrates women as being actively involved in DSS community life in terms of legal rulings concerning, particularly, marriage, sexual and biological issues related to impurity. Women are also portrayed as holding special administrative roles and honorific positions, indicating that, despite the communities' hierarchy being male-dominated and the scrolls being androcentric in nature, no evidence exists to indicate that women were either excluded from/did not form part of the DSS communities, or that these comprised purely celibate males.

Evidence from the Rule texts, therefore, indicates that, in the Second Temple period, there were complex attitudes towards marriage, family and sexuality, evident in the portrayal of both males and females. By adopting feminist-critical and gender studies methodologies in particular, an exploration between the texts and lived experience becomes possible, revealing "hidden" references to women.

CHAPTER 3 THE PRESENCE OF WOMEN AT QUMRAN

Introduction

This chapter analyses the archaeological evidence for the presence of women in the Qumran community.

Archaeology studies the past via 'material remains left by humans', and can complement/supplement textual evidence.³¹⁶It cannot be considered an exact science, as it involves interpretation of the behaviours of humans, past and present.³¹⁷ Evidence for women's presence at Qumran from the site's architecture, cemetery, nearby caves, and small finds in each location will be considered. Finally, conclusions will be drawn.

Archaeological excavations at Qumran have had a complicated past, affected by the local political situation, the relationship between archaeological and scrolls scholarship, and because much research remains unpublished or partially published.³¹⁸ Regev considers Qumran to be probably the most controversial archaeological site in the ancient Levant.³¹⁹ A major issue is whether archaeological evidence corresponds with scroll evidence, or depictions of the Essenes: a complex relationship exists between textual and archaeological evidence, concerning chronological discrepancies, discrepancies between reality and archaeology, and the limitations of material remains.³²⁰

Methodological Issues/Considerations

Avni identifies issues with archaeological research, including determining the cultural-ethnic-religious aspects of ancient communities.³²¹ He argues that archaeologists need to exercise caution when deciphering/interpreting physical remains purely on archaeological evidence, without considering historical, cultural, textual/epigraphic and artistic evidence.³²² Regev, however, proposes concentrating on an analysis of archaeological remains, not anticipating a correspondence with scroll evidence.³²³ He advocates using social, anthropological and historical

³¹⁶ Magness, 2021, p.5

³¹⁷ Magness, 2021, p.14

³¹⁸ Mizzi, 2017a, p.20

³¹⁹ Regev, 2009, pp.175-176

³²⁰ Regev, 2009, p.177

³²¹ Gideon Avni, 2009, p.125

³²² Avni, 2009, p.125

³²³ Regev, 2009, p.177

archaeology to reconstruct social aspects of ancient societies, including belief systems and social organisation, arguing that this approach provides both theoretical and practical ways of identifying and interpreting rituals, social structures and ideologies in the archaeological record.³²⁴

Mizzi proposes that the scrolls be considered "human" artefacts, revealing information about the daily, economic, social and religious lives of ancient communities, and should be studied like other material remains.³²⁵ He proposes that a comprehensive archaeological exploration of Qumran could reveal socio-cultural aspects of the community who assembled, used, and stored the scrolls in the nearby caves, highlighting any inconsistencies between lived reality and that depicted in the scrolls.³²⁶ The convergence of textual and archaeological evidence could provide new interpretations/understandings, and a more comprehensive grasp of the Essenes and Qumran.³²⁷

Galor argues convincingly that the importance of material remains has not been sufficiently addressed regarding gender issues, identifying archaeology as the last discipline to take these into consideration, supporting dialogue between scroll scholars and archaeologists.³²⁸ She critiques Crawford's conclusion that the material remains at Qumran do not support women's presence, arguing that Crawford's analysis of the scrolls was more thorough than that of the archaeological and anthropological evidence.³²⁹

Taylor also argues persuasively that textual and archaeological evidence be combined, to permit a more holistic understanding of ancient societies, whilst acknowledging that the study of these societies can only generate feasibilities and probabilities, not certainties, although, as Galor notes, many contradictory interpretations have resulted from comparing scroll and archaeological evidence.³³⁰

As ever, each piece of research reflects the researcher's own biases.³³¹

³²⁴ Regev, 2009, p.179

³²⁵ Mizzi, 2017a, p.31

³²⁶ Mizzi, 2017a, p.27

³²⁷ Mizzi, 2017a, p.27

³²⁸ Galor, 2014, pp.17, 21-22

³²⁹ Galor, 2012, pp.22-23; Crawford, 2003b, pp.141-142

³³⁰ Taylor, 2012, p.257; Galor, 2014, p.17

³³¹ Mizzi, 2017a, p.24

Qumran as a Communal Site

De Vaux feasibly identified the site of Qumran not as a residential community, but as one which catered for a number of communal activities, with its architecture consisted of storerooms, a large kitchen, a dining room, a washing area, a stable, and several workshops and assembly rooms.³³² Galor identifies these activities as subsistence pursuits, gatherings, worship, ritual bathing, studying, and scribal activities.³³³

Crawford proposes that the Qumran community comprised mainly scribes and associated personnel, concluding that it was an all-male community, citing lack of evidence for female scribes in the Second Temple period (however, see Cansdale, 1994a).³³⁴ She cites the large number of fragmentary texts found in the caves as evidence for a scribal community, and because there is evidence for scroll writing, production and restoration: inkwells, scroll tabs, writing utensils and a bronze needle possibly used to collate manuscripts, and rooms which could have functioned as libraries and for scroll repair.³³⁵ Popović agrees that writing occurred, but considers there to be insufficient evidence for a library space, concluding that the site served as a location for producing and studying texts.³³⁶

A storeroom near the dining area contained a number of items used for serving and eating meals: cooking pots; jars for water distribution; drinking vessels; serving dishes, and crockery, indicating that communal meals took place. Communal eating expresses a shared identity amongst group members, solidifies an individual's place within that group, and indicates social boundaries towards outsiders, and that the importance of adhering to meal regulations in the everyday lives of sect members, at Qumran and elsewhere, cannot be overestimated.³³⁷ Wassen argues that both men and women attended communal meals, but that not all meals were communal.³³⁸ In Roman Palestine, wifely domestic duties included baking bread, wool-working and preparing meals, but, when carried out in communal settings, they

³³² de Vaux, 1973, p.10

³³³ Galor, 2014, p.24

³³⁴ Crawford, 2020; Cansdale, 1994a, p.14

³³⁵ Crawford, 2012, pp.14, 15, 2020

³³⁶ Mladen Popović, 2015, pp.155-167

³³⁷ Wassen, 2016b, p.102

³³⁸ Wassen, 2016b, p.105; 1QSa II:22; 1QS VII:3

became a male responsibility, indicating that women may not have performed these activities at Qumran.³³⁹

Schiffman proposes a different interpretation, considering it an educational centre, where sect members completed their studies before becoming full members; they would therefore have lived separately from their families temporarily, although some sect members would have been permanent residents, accompanied by their families.³⁴⁰

Alternatives to the Essene Hypothesis

Whilst many modern scroll scholars and archaeologists endorse the view that the Essene sect formed the Qumran community, whether celibate or marrying, alternative uses for the site have been proposed: a military fort; a military outpost serving to secure the Dead Sea coast; a pottery production site; a *villa rustica*/agricultural facility, or a commercial/trading centre and customs point.³⁴¹ These alternative functions have been outlined by both Meyers and Regev, with Meyers providing an excellent summary of their weaknesses, and Regev arguing that the community's function cannot be conclusively identified.³⁴²

³³⁹ Mishnah Ketubot 5:5; Magness, 2021, p.212

³⁴⁰ Lawrence Schiffman, 1995, pp. 53, 135

³⁴¹ Norman Golb, 1985, p.80; Yitzhak Magen & Yuval Peleg, 2006, pp.55-111; Robert Donceel & Pauline Donceel-Voûte; Yizhar Hirschfeld, 2004; Alan Crown & Lena Cansdale, 1994, pp.24-36, 73-78

³⁴² Eric Meyers, 2010, pp.23-27; Regev, 2009, p.176

Qumran Site - Small Finds

Small finds from the site could provide evidence for the presence of women. Fewer items made from organic materials have been found on the site than in the nearby caves, although this can be explained by a fire in 68CE.³⁴³

The majority of small finds can be considered gender-neutral, although some items, such as combs, mirrors, jewellery, spindle whorls and cosmetic containers, can be linked to women in the Second Temple period, and could be considered evidence for women's presence.³⁴⁴ Perfume containers, both glass and ceramic, have been found at Qumran, also providing evidence for women's presence.³⁴⁵ However, in Roman times, perfume was used by both sexes for erotic purposes, although Achilles Tatius associated perfumed oils with a woman's beauty.³⁴⁶

Magness considers few items to be female-gendered: one spindle whorl; four beads and, possibly, one bracelet, concluding that more evidence is required to confirm women's presence at Qumran.³⁴⁷

³⁴³ Galor, 2014, pp.32, 33; Crawford, 2020

³⁴⁴ Galor, 2014, p.36

³⁴⁵ Robert Donceel, 1999/2000, p17; Galor, 2014, p.35

³⁴⁶ Achilles Tatius, Leucippe and Clitophon, 2.38.2-3; Galor, 2014, p.36

³⁴⁷ Magness, 2021, p.219

<u>Cemetery</u>

Cemeteries are important sources of evidence concerning social practices of ancient peoples, although it can be difficult to identify their ethnicity from burial practices, grave goods and grave architecture.³⁴⁸

The Qumran cemetery is located some 100m east of Qumran, separated from the site by a boundary wall, with the graves marked by stone mounds.³⁴⁹ The western section forms the main part, with extensions and subsidiary cemeteries located to the north, south, and east.³⁵⁰ The general consensus is that the Qumran cemetery contains the remains of members of the Qumran community, commonly acknowledged to be the Essene sect from the Second Temple era (although see below).³⁵¹

Number of Graves

The cemetery contains some 1200 graves: single burial shafts containing few grave goods.³⁵² Graves in the western section (except one) are arranged in rows, heads facing south, feet facing north. However, the majority of those in the southern extension, and all in the southern subsidiary section, are oriented east-west.³⁵³

VanderKam considers the sample size to be problematic.³⁵⁴ Only a small number of graves have been excavated, with the likelihood of more being excavated in the foreseeable future being slim, due to objections by some orthodox Jews in Israel, and the local political situation.³⁵⁵ However, Magness argues that de Vaux's 43 excavated graves were a demographically representative sample.³⁵⁶ Steckoll excavated 10 more.³⁵⁷ An additional 2, previously opened illegally, were excavated in 2001.³⁵⁸ Nine more were excavated in the southern section of the main cemetery, with a further 33 excavated by the Israel Antiquities Authority in 2016.³⁵⁹

³⁴⁸ Avni, 2009, p.125

³⁴⁹ Hanan Eshel, 2009, pp.73-75; Magness, 2021, p.200

³⁵⁰ Magness, 2021, pp. 200-201

³⁵¹ Avni, 2009, p.125

³⁵² Avni, 2009, p.126; Regev, 2004, pp.109-131, 2009, p.195; Magness, 2021, p.201

³⁵³ Magness, 2021, p.201

³⁵⁴ VanderKam (2010, p.33),

³⁵⁵ Magness, 2021, p.205; Collins, 2013, p.89

³⁵⁶ Magness 2021, p.205; de Vaux, 1973, pp.45-48, 57-58

³⁵⁷ Steckoll, 1968, pp.323-336

³⁵⁸ Magen Broshi & Hanan Eshel, 2004, pp.321-332

³⁵⁹ Yitzhak Magen & Yuval Peleg, 2007, pp.45-47; Yossi Nagar, Hizmi Hanania, Yevgeny Aharonovitch & Dothan Traubman, 2022, pp.3-17; Bruce Bower, 2017

Evidence from the excavations suggests a greater percentage of male burials than female.³⁶⁰ However, this is consistent with that of other Second Temple period locations.³⁶¹

Although excavating only 43 graves, de Vaux concluded that the Qumran community comprised celibate males; however, results of his skeletal studies remain unpublished.³⁶² He concluded that women did not form part of the community, or that the rule concerning celibacy changed over time.³⁶³ Likewise, Steckoll's results are unpublished. The location of the remains he excavated are unknown, although Crawford states that he identified 3 skeletons as female.³⁶⁴

Interest in the Qumran cemetery was renewed in the 1990s, focusing on possible female burials.³⁶⁵ Some 50% of the bones excavated were sent for analysis to Germany, with the rest shared between the Musée de l'Homme in Paris and the École Biblique de Jérusalem.³⁶⁶ Results of these investigations identified 13-14 of the skeletons as female, more than previously identified, with 23% of bones belonging to women, 63% to men, and 6% to children.³⁶⁷

Of the 33 graves excavated in 2016, 30 probably contained male skeletons, with pelvis shape and body size cited as evidence, whilst the gender of the other 3 could not be definitively determined: using radiocarbon dating methodology, the bodies were identified as being about 2200 years old, in keeping with the dates of sectarian scrolls.³⁶⁸

Dating of Burials

Dating the burials is problematic because, apart from those in the southern cemetery, most of the graves excavated lacked grave goods, except a few potsherds found in burial shafts.³⁶⁹

Furthermore, several scholars have argued that not all graves date to the Second Temple Era. Magness argues that, despite the cemetery's proximity to the

³⁶⁰ Grossman, 2017, p.232; Edna Ullman-Margalit, 2006, p.80

³⁶¹ Avni, 2009, p.129

³⁶² de Vaux, 1973, pp.45-48, 57-58

³⁶³ De Vaux, 1973, p.129; Edna Ullman-Margalit, 2006, p.80

³⁶⁴ Crawford, 2003b, p.143

³⁶⁵ e.g. Hachlili, 1993, pp.247-264; Brian Schultz, 2006, p.199; Olav Rohrer-Ertl et al, 1999, pp.3-36; Susan Guise Sheridan and Jaime Ullinger, 2006, pp.195-212

³⁶⁶ Rohrer-Ertl, 2006; Sheridan & Ullinger, 2006; Galor, 2014, p.29

³⁶⁷ Schultz, 2006, p.199; Jonathan Norton, 2003, p.123

³⁶⁸ Nagar et al, 2022, pp.3-17); Bower, 2017, p.8

³⁶⁹ Magness, 2021, p.201

Qumran site, not all remains were contemporaneous to the site.³⁷⁰ Avni, too, concludes that the cemetery cannot be linked exclusively to the Qumran community because of late finds, and the possibility that some graves dated from before the Qumran sect occupied the site.³⁷¹ He proposes that graves dating from after the Second Temple period are Bedouin burials, with some grave goods, including jewellery, dating from Roman, Byzantine and Ottoman eras.³⁷² Zias, too, argues that the east-west facing tombs were Bedouin, with jewellery found in three tombs belonging to the Ottoman period, concluding that all graves containing female skeletons were Bedouin, with none of the north-south facing graves from the Second Temple period containing female remains.³⁷³ Schultz proposes that it is now generally accepted that, as a result of Zias' research, both Bedouin and Second Temple period interments exist in the cemetery, and that, because burials from the two eras share common features, they could be indistinguishable.³⁷⁴

Avni, however, suggests that it cannot be convincingly alleged that all female remains were from later periods, as a study by Broshi & Eshel dated female remains to the 3rd/2nd centuries BCE.³⁷⁵ It is nevertheless feasible that the Qumran cemetery continued to be used after the site's destruction.³⁷⁶ Furthermore, material remains from graves cannot be accurately dated using radiocarbon dating techniques because of the lack of collagen and carbon in the human remains, nor can the wood the coffins were constructed from be dated, because paraffin was present in the wood as part of the preservation process after excavation.³⁷⁷

Marrying Essenes/Family Tombs

Rohrer-Ertl proposes that human remains from the main and southern cemeteries possess similar features, concluding that they may have represented a "marrying" community.³⁷⁸ However, Hachlili notes that no family tombs have been discovered at Qumran, implying, perhaps, that the individual was perceived as more important than family, although she also points out that family tombs were

³⁷⁰ Magness, 2021, pp.201, 202

³⁷¹ Avni (2009, pp.127-128); Magen and Peleg, 2007, p.45

³⁷² Avni , 2009, pp.127-128; Joe Zias, 2000, pp.220-253; Christa Clamer, 2003, pp.171-179

³⁷³ Zias, 2000, pp.220-253; Schultz, 2006, p.200

³⁷⁴ Schultz 2006, pp.203, 212; Zias, 2000, pp.220-253

³⁷⁵ Avni, 2009, p.129; Broshi & Eshel, 2004, pp.321-332

³⁷⁶ Avni, 2009, p.129

³⁷⁷ Magness, 2021, p.202

³⁷⁸ Rohrer-Ertl, 2006, p.193; Hachlili, 2010, p.67

associated with elites, and individual tombs with the poor.³⁷⁹ In this context, Taylor presents a strong argument that members of the community chose to be buried as poor individuals, linked to their sectarian ideology.³⁸⁰

<u>Women</u>

Crawford argues that, whilst relatively few excavated graves contained female skeletons, these nevertheless provide evidence that women were, in some way, associated with the Qumran community.³⁸¹ She argues however, that women were only present at Qumran for a short time, with the archaeological record suggesting that the Qumran community comprised mainly men.³⁸² However, as Wassén points out, any female skeletons at all pose a problem for the male celibacy theory.³⁸³

Ullman-Margalit proposes that some Qumran residents may have adopted celibacy in later life, but could have had families before joining the community, arguing that their families lived on the edges of the Qumran site, or were brought there to be buried.³⁸⁴ Vermes considers that the female skeletons could have been those of women who had died there whilst visiting Qumran to attend covenant renewal ceremonies.³⁸⁵

Hachlili suggests that women and children were buried on the edges of the cemetery, because they held a marginalised role within the community.³⁸⁶ Schultz also considered that women were treated differently from men in the Qumran community.³⁸⁷

Pliny wrote that the Essenes lived without women.³⁸⁸ Although scholars such as Wassén, mentioned above, considered that the presence of any female remains discredited this view, Collins notes that cemeteries associated with Christian monasteries often included female burials, even though the monks were celibate.³⁸⁹ Women may have performed roles such as cooking and cleaning, or as family

³⁷⁹ Hachlili, 2010, p.72

³⁸⁰ Taylor, 1999, pp.312-313

³⁸¹ Crawford, 2020

³⁸² Crawford, 2020

³⁸³ Wassén, 2005, p.6

³⁸⁴ Ullman-Margalit, 2006, p.81

³⁸⁵ Vermes, 2007

³⁸⁶ Rachel Hachlili, 2010, pp.46-78; Timothy Lim, 2017, p.32

³⁸⁷ Schultz, 2006, pp.219-220

³⁸⁸ Pliny, HN 5.15.73

³⁸⁹ Wassén, 2005, p.6; Collins, 2013, pp.89-90

members. This could have been the case at Qumran. However, Josephus identified a marrying group of Essenes.³⁹⁰

The debate around female skeletons is controversial, partly because skeletal analysis after 2000 years is problematic, and partly because some of the female skeletons excavated were later identified as Bedouin burials.³⁹¹ Additionally, the length of time which passed between the excavation of the human remains, and their subsequent analysis, renders an accurate analysis unlikely, due to the poor state of the bones and the site. Preservation and conservation of the skeletal remains is poor. Only skulls and pelvises were removed, restricting the anthropological analyses which could be performed.³⁹²

The only gender-related evidence relates to jewellery.³⁹³ However, Zias, as previously discussed, considers that both jewellery and female skeletons are Bedouin, citing their location on the edges of the cemetery as evidence.³⁹⁴

Three female graves facing east-west contained jewellery: a bronze ring, an earring and beads in the southern extension; two earrings in a grave in the same part of the cemetery, and 30 beads, a bronze ring and an earring in the south cemetery.³⁹⁵ Because of their orientation, burial location and types of jewellery, Clamer argues that women buried in these graves belonged to the same ethnic group, possibly Muslim, Christian merchants or nomads, proposing that they were in secondary burial from the Late Roman, Byzantine and Ottoman eras.³⁹⁶ Whilst Galor supports some of Clamer's conclusions, she argues that it is hard to differentiate beads and bones from Byzantine and Islamic eras.³⁹⁷

Magness concludes that women, although present, formed a very small part of the community, and that, even if Zias' argument is not supported, it is likely that their graves were "marginalised".³⁹⁸ It is noteworthy that some female graves contained jewellery, because of the paucity of female-gendered finds at the Qumran site itself. Nevertheless, the discovery of jewellery is at odds with the Essenes' ascetic lifestyle, and, whilst the lack of such objects at Qumran does not confirm the

³⁹⁶ Clamer, 2003, pp.175-177

³⁹⁰ Josephus, *BJ*2:160-161

³⁹¹ Collins, 2013, p.89

³⁹² VanderKam, 2010, p.33

³⁹³ Galor, 2014, p.32

³⁹⁴ Zias, 2000, pp.225-234

³⁹⁵ Hachlili, 2010, p.57

³⁹⁷ Galor, 2010b, p.395, 2014, p.32

³⁹⁸ Magness, 2021, p.206; Zias, 2000, pp.220-253

absence of women, it is at variance with the classification of the female remains in the southern extension and southern cemetery as belonging to the Essene sect.³⁹⁹

³⁹⁹ Magness, 2021, p.206

The Qumran Caves

De Vaux explored some 270 natural caves and crevices in the limestone cliffs to the north, south and west of Qumran, with only 40 revealing evidence of human activity.⁴⁰⁰ He also investigated artificially-produced marl caves near the site, with Broshi and Eshel discovering more.⁴⁰¹

However, only a small proportion of the caves demonstrating human activity yielded material remains, with fewer from the Second Temple period.⁴⁰² Pieces made from glass, stone and wood, personal items and small tools are particularly rare, although pottery was found in the majority of caves evidencing human activity.⁴⁰³ Although found only in a small number of caves, manuscripts form the greatest amount of artefacts.⁴⁰⁴

The scarcity of material remains could have resulted from both natural and cultural developments, rendering the archaeological evidence both lacking and susceptible to misinterpretation.⁴⁰⁵ Such developments could include cave collapse, Roman military occupation post 68CE, and use by other groups, possibly Byzantine and Islamic.⁴⁰⁶ Another factor is the possibility of looting in both ancient and modern times.⁴⁰⁷

De Vaux proposed that both natural and artificial caves, and tents nearby, functioned as living accommodation for Qumran sect members, and that the Qumran site itself functioned as a community centre, as previously discussed.⁴⁰⁸ He argues that, whilst the inhabitants of the Qumran site itself were celibate, marrying Essenes occupied nearby caves, tents and huts, and, whilst leading different lifestyles, their fundamental beliefs were the same, an interpretation supported by Collins.⁴⁰⁹

Broshi & Eshel, however, suggest that marl caves located near the Qumran site were the only ones to have been inhabited, a theory which has much scholarly

⁴⁰⁰ de Vaux, 1973, e.g. p.51

⁴⁰¹ de Vaux, 1973, pp.52, 53; Broshi and Eshel 1999, pp.328-348

⁴⁰² Mizzi, 2017, p.139

⁴⁰³ Mizzi, 2017, pp.139, 140

⁴⁰⁴ Mizzi, 2017, p.140

⁴⁰⁵ Mizzi, 2017, p.142

⁴⁰⁶ Mizzi, 2017, pp.142-143; Taylor, 2006, pp.140-141; Taylor, 2012, pp.277-300; Broshi & Eshel, 1999, pp.340-341

⁴⁰⁷ Mizzi, 2017, pp.142, 143

⁴⁰⁸ de Vaux, 1973, pp.50-57

⁴⁰⁹ de Vaux, 1973, pp.109, 115, 137-138; Collins, 2016, p.31

support.⁴¹⁰ Mizzi details alternative views, such as those of Patrich, who argues that the caves, because they lack material remains, were only used as temporary, or short-term, living accommodation.⁴¹¹ Cansdale suggests that they provided accommodation for travellers, shepherds or hermits.⁴¹² Taylor favours the view that they were used to store texts and/or as workshops.⁴¹³

The various artefacts, however, provide a clear domestic aspect to the caves, although their archaeology throws into doubt the view that they served as long-term living quarters, because both limestone and marl caves yielded only pottery items.⁴¹⁴ Mizzi also argues that there is no clear evidence either of daily activities or long-term use, with the majority not large enough to have accommodated families, citing as evidence the remains of a camping area close to the site.⁴¹⁵ There is support for the presence of a tent camping ground in the form of stones laid out in a circle, with a number of artefacts also being found, e.g. bowl, jars, a mug, coins and sandal nails.⁴¹⁶

The disparity between the lack of eclectic artefacts in most of the caves compared to those at the Qumran site nearby is a paradox, given the connection between the two in terms of pathways or stairways between the two, and because caves 7Q-9Q were only accessible from the site itself, indicating that the caves served purposes other than living quarters, unless they were temporary.⁴¹⁷

Mizzi offers feasible explanations for the latter, suggesting that they could have been used by individuals not yet been fully accepted into the sect, by individuals undergoing periods of exclusion for impurity reasons, or people excluded from the community temporarily.⁴¹⁸

However, if the site itself functioned as a community centre, as discussed above, sect members would have inhabited nearby caves and tents, with or without women, with few artefacts being found in the caves because the majority of activities, including cooking and eating, occurred in the Qumran buildings.⁴¹⁹ Mizzi

⁴¹⁰ Broshi & Eshel, 1999, p.332; Mizzi, 2017, pp.144-145

⁴¹¹ Joseph Patrich, 2000, pp.720-727

⁴¹² Cansdale, 1997, pp.94-97

⁴¹³ Taylor, 2012, pp.272-303

⁴¹⁴ Mizzi, 2017, p.146

⁴¹⁵ Mizzi, 2017, pp.147-148

⁴¹⁶ Broshi & Eshel, 1999, pp.336-344; Mizzi, 2017, pp.336-344

⁴¹⁷ Mizzi, 2017, pp.148, 149

⁴¹⁸ Mizzi, 2017, p.149

⁴¹⁹ de Vaux, 1962, pp.11-12; Mizzi, 2017, p.150

suggests that the caves may have functioned solely as sleeping areas.⁴²⁰ He also, however, argues that most caves were used to deposit scrolls, as storage facilities, temporary living accommodation, or a combination of all three; their function as permanent living accommodation cannot be definitely excluded, but only in relation to the Essene hypothesis.⁴²¹ Cave 1Q, however, is an exception, in that pieces of wood, including a comb, plus food and pottery remains, were found, perhaps indicating temporary occupation, maybe as refuge, after the 68CE Roman invasion.⁴²²

There is no firm evidence that women inhabited the caves. However, a linen hairnet was found in one, of a type found both locally and in the Mediterranean area as a whole.⁴²³ Biblical evidence shows that only females wore hairnets, implying that women did inhabit the Qumran site.⁴²⁴ Other linen fragments were found in caves 1, 8, and 11.⁴²⁵

Most of the material remains are gender-neutral. Evidence that women had a presence in the caves is therefore inconclusive, and is contradictory to evidence from other Judaean caves.⁴²⁶ Mizzi views female presence at Qumran to be minimal, and that the lack of cave evidence could provide support for the argument that the Qumran caves did not serve as permanent living quarters.⁴²⁷

⁴²⁰ Mizzi, 2017, p.151

⁴²¹ Mizzi, 2017, p.153

⁴²² Mizzi, 2017, p.152

⁴²³ Galor, 2014, p.33

⁴²⁴ Gospel of Thomas 41:24; Galor, 2014, p.33

⁴²⁵ Mireille Bélis, 2003, pp.251-259; Galor, 2014, p.33

⁴²⁶ Mizzi, 2017, p.154

⁴²⁷ Mizzi, 2017, p.154

<u>Summary</u>

This chapter explored the archaeological evidence for the presence of women at the Qumran site in terms of its architecture, small finds, cemetery and nearby caves. Again, conclusions will be reached in Chapter 4. However, to summarise, it is now generally agreed amongst modern scholars that the sect represented at Qumran was the Essenes, and that women in some way formed part of the Qumran community, although the evidence is limited. However, whilst presence of women at Qumran is perhaps no longer contentious, the subject would benefit from combining textual and archaeological evidence. If women did form part of the Qumran community, their numbers were far fewer than men, as evidenced from, particularly, the excavated graves.

CHAPTER 4 CONCLUSIONS

Portrayal of Women in the Sectarian Rule Texts

The Rule of the Community has often been associated with a celibate community at Qumran, although celibacy is nowhere mentioned in the text, and contains no rules explicitly relating to women or marriage, probably due to the androcentric nature of the text. However, recent scholarship, adopting Feminist-Critical and Gender-inclusive methodologies, provides evidence that women were "hidden" within the text, and formed part of the DSS communities.

The Rule of the Congregation, however, portrays women as members of DSS communities. Whilst early scholars favoured text emendations to refer only to males, more recent scholarship challenged the emendations, employing the above methodologies. Women are portrayed as wives, mothers, educationalists, and participants in legal matters, rendering the Rule of the Congregation gender-inclusive. However, the evidence indicates that the ability of women to testify against their spouses indicates that loyalty to the sect took priority over that to their husbands.

The Damascus Document provides the most information concerning women in the Rule texts. It clearly supports the view that the Essene sect comprised men, women, and children. Its androcentric nature, however, may not portray women accurately in terms of actual social reality. Much of this text concerns sect ideology, and portrays men as vulnerable to perceived threats from women. There is evidence, however, of positive portrayals of women, although they are still portrayed androcentrically.

Overall, evidence from the Rule texts portrays women as being involved in many aspects of life in DSS communities. They are portrayed as holding specific administrative and honorific roles in their communities, although they did not enjoy as much authority as males. They are also portrayed as presenting a threat to men, but also, occasionally, as enjoying protection, and equality with males.

Despite the hierarchy being male-dominated, and the scrolls being androcentric in nature, scroll evidence nowhere implies the exclusion of women and that DSS communities consisted entirely of celibate males.

Presence of Women at the Qumran Site

Qumran is generally considered to be an Essene communal site, but with no consensus concerning whether women formed part of the Qumran community, or the location of their living arrangements.

There is limited evidence in the archaeological record for the presence of women at Qumran. Most of the material remains found are "gender-neutral". However, this lack of evidence cannot be considered conclusive, because, in terms of small finds, items made from organic material may not have survived the course of time, or fires, with other items, such beads and spindle whorls not being discovered because they were so small, or may have been looted.

However, the paucity of items such as jewellery and cosmetics may not evidence a lack of women, as such items may not have been used by female sect members in order to comply with ascetic sect ideology: men and women, therefore, could have co-existed, but not in the same way as in other communities. However, there is no evidence, from either the ancient authors or the Rule texts, that women were prohibited from wearing or using such items.

Nonetheless, if women did form part of the Qumran community, it might be expected that more gendered artefacts would have been discovered. Whilst the lack of such items does not necessarily the absence of women, this is a possibility if the lack of gendered artefacts from the site, the caves, the cemetery, and the predominance of male burials in the cemetery is taken into account.

Archaeological evidence from the cemetery suggests that only small numbers of women were present at Qumran. There are many more male burials compared to those of females and children, with some of the graves probably being later Bedouin burials. Moreover, the small sample size of excavated graves is problematic.

Concerning the nearby caves, positively linked to the Qumran community, there is no firm evidence concerning their use, including whether they were used for residential accommodation, or whether women were included.

The view that women only played a small part in the Qumran community is, however, an "argument from silence", with insufficient, conclusive archaeological evidence to prove that they played active roles. To only use archaeological evidence to decide whether women formed part of the Qumran community is unrealistic, although some of the archaeological evidence concerning burials, linen fragments, and perfume holders is useful. If women did form part of the community, it was in smaller numbers than men, but more collaboration amongst disciplines is required in order to gain a more holistic understanding of women's presence at the Qumran site.

Whilst evidence from the sectarian Rule texts demonstrates that women did form part of the Essene sect, their presence at Qumran seems to have been minimal, and the fact that female remains were discovered at Qumran is not confirmation that women played a permanent role within the Qumran community, although this does remain a possibility.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ancient Sources

- Achilles Tatius, *Leucippe and Clitophon*, trans. S. Gaseley. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1969).
- Diodorus Siculus, *Library of History: Books II.35-IV58*. trans. C.H. Oldfather. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1935).
- Eusebius, *Praeparatio Evangelica*, trans. E.H. Gifford. Available at <u>https://is.muni.cz/el/phil/podzim2012/RLB295/um/Eusebius_of_Caesarea_-</u>_____Praeparatio_Evangelica.pdf (Accessed 12th September, 2022).
- Josephus, *Against Apion,* trans. H. St. J. Thackeray. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA; Harvard University Press, 1926).
- Josephus, *The Jewish War*, trans. G.A. Williamson. (London: Penguin Classics, 1981).
- Josephus, *Jewish Antiquities*, trans. W. Whiston. (Ware, Hertfordshire: Wordsworth Editions Limited, 2006).
- Josephus, *The Life of Flavius Josephus*, trans. W. Whiston (California: CreateSpace, 2016).
- *Mishnah Ketubot. Available at* <u>https://www.sefaria.org/MishnahKetubot1.1?lang=bi</u>, 12th November, 2021.
- Philo, 'On Flight and Finding', in *Philo Volume V*, trans. F.H. Colson & G.H. Whitaker. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1934), pp. 11-125.
- Philo, 'On Joseph', in *Philo Volume VI*, trans. F.H. Colson. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1935), pp. 140-273.
- Philo, 'On the Special Laws, Book 3', in *Philo: Volume VII*, trans. F.H. Colson. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1937), pp. 472-610.
- Philo, On the Embassy to Gaius, trans. E.M. Smallwood (Leiden: Brill, 1970)
- Philo, 'Every Good Man is Free', in *Philo: Volume IX*, trans. F.H. Colson. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989), pp. 10-101.
- Philo, 'Hypothetica', in *Philo: Volume IX*, trans. F.H. Colson. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989), pp. 414-443.
- Philo, 'On the Contemplative Life', in *Philo: Volume IX*, trans. F.H. Colson. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989), pp. 112-169.
- Philo, On the Creation. Allegorical Interpretation of Genesis and Exodus. Philo: Volume 1, trans. F.H. Colson & G.H. Whitaker. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989).
- Philo, *Questions on Exodus*, trans. R. Marcus. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989).

- Philo, *Questions on Genesis*, trans. R. Marcus. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989).
- Pliny the Elder, *Natural History, Books 3-7*, trans. H. Rackham. Loeb Classical Library (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1989).

Modern Scholarship

- Adler, R., *Engendering Judaism: An Inclusive Theology and Ethics* (Boston: Beacon, 1998).
- Albrecht, J., Degelmann, C., Gasparini, V., Gordon, R., Patzelt, M., Petridou, G., Raja, R. Rieger, A.-K., Rüpke, J., Sippel, B., Urciuoli, E.R. and Weiss, J., 'Religion in the Making: The Lived Ancient Religion Approach', *Religion* 48, 4 (2018), pp. 568-593.
- Alexander, P.S., 'The Redaction-History of *Serekh Ha-Yahad*: A Proposal', *RevQ* 17 (1996), pp. 437-456.
- Alexander, P.S. & Vermes, G., 'Qumran Cave 4: Serehk ha-Yahad and Two Related Texts', in *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert* 26 (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).
- Allegro, J.M., The Dead Sea Scrolls (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1956).
- Allegro, J.M., *The People of the Dead Sea Scrolls in Texts and* Pictures (London: Routledge, 1959).
- Allegro, J.M., The Dead Sea Scrolls: A Reappraisal (London: Penguin Books, 1964).
- Allegro, J.M., 'The Wiles of the Wicked Woman: A Sapiential Work from Qumran's Fourth Cave', *Palestine Exploration Quarterly* 96 (1964), pp. 53-55.
- Allegro, J.M., *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert V: Qumran Cave 4, 1 (4Q158-4Q186)* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1968).
- Angel, J.L., 'Damascus Document', in *Outside the Bible: Ancient Jewish Writings Not Included in Scripture*. Vol. 3, eds. L. Feldman, J. Kugel & L. Schiffman (Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 2013), pp. 2975-3035.
- Archer, L.J. "In thy Bloodline": Gender and Ritual in the Judaeo-Christian Tradition', in *Through the Devil's Gateway: Women, Religion and Gender*, ed. A.L. Joseph (London: SPCK, 1990), pp. 22-49.
- Arnold, R.C.D., *The Social Role of Liturgy in the Religion of the Qumran Community*. STDJ 60 (Leiden: Brill, 2006).
- Atkins, K., 'Commentary on Judith Butler', in *Self and Subjectivity*, ed. K. Atkins (Oxford: Blackwell, 2005), pp. 22-256.
- Atkinson, J. & Magness, J., 'Josephus's Essenes and the Qumran Community', Journal of Biblical Literature 129, 2 (2010), pp. 317-342.
- Aubin, M., "She is the Beginning of all the Ways of Perversity": Femininity and Metaphor in 4Q184', *Women in Judaism: A Multiplicity Journal* 2 (2001), pp. 1-23.
- Avni, G., 'Who Were Interred in the Qumran Cemetery? The Ethnic Identity of Ancient Populations in Light of Archaeological Findings in Burial Sites', *Cathedra* 131 (2009), pp. 43-64.

- Avni, G., 'Who Were Interred in the Qumran Cemetery? On Ethnic Identities and the Archaeology of Death and Burial'. Available at <u>https://www.academia.edu/12469684/Who_were_interred_in_the_Qumran_Cemetery</u> (Accessed 6th May, 2023).
- Baigent, M. & Leigh, R., *The Dead Sea Scrolls Deception* (London: Corgi Books, 1991).
- Baillet, M., *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert VII: Qumrân Grotte 4.III (4Q482-4Q520)* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1982).
- Baker, C.M., "Ordering the House": On the Domestication of Jewish Bodies', in *Parchments of Gender: Deciphering the Bodies of Antiquity*, ed. M. Wyke (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).
- Baker, C.M., *Rebuilding the House of Israel: Architectures of Gender in Jewish Antiquity* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2002).
- Bar-Adon, P., 'Another Settlement of the Judean Desert Sect at Ein el-Ghuweir on the Shores of the Dead Sea', *Bulletin of the American Schools of Oriental Research* 277 (1977), pp. 1-25.
- Bar-Nathan, R., 'Qumran and the Hasmonaean and Herodian Winter Palaces of Jericho: The Implication of the Pottery Finds for the Interpretation of the Settlement at Qumran', in *The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates*, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert & J. Zangenberg. STDJ 57 (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 263-277).
- Barnes, C.R., 'The Identification of the Qumran Sect According to the Ancient Historiographers: A Survey with a Harmonization of Major Sources' (2014). Available at

https://www.academia.edu/8456446/Ancient Historians and the Dead Sea S crolls_A_Survey_With_a_Harmonization_of_Major_Sources (Accessed 20th October, 2022).

- Barthélemy, D. & Milik, J.T. (eds.), *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert I: Qumran Cave 1* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1955).
- Baskin, J., 'Rabbinic Judaism and the Creation of Woman', in *Judaism Since Gender*, eds. M. Peskowitz & L. Levitt (London: Routledge, 1997), pp. 125-130.
- Baskin, J., *Midrashic Women: Formations of the Feminine in Rabbinic Literature* (Hanover: Brandeis University Press, 2002).
- Baskin, J., 'Jewish Private Life: Gender, Marriage and the Lives of Women', in *The Cambridge Guide to Jewish History, Religion and Culture* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010), pp. 348-362.
- Baumgarten, A.I., 'Who Cares and Why Does it Matter? Qumran and the Essenes, Once Again!' *Dead Sea Discoveries* 11, 2 (2004), pp. 174-190.
- Baumgarten, J.M., 'Sacrifice and Worship Among the Jewish Sectarians of the Dead Sea (Qumran) Scrolls', *Harvard Theological Review* 46 (1953), pp. 141-149.
- Baumgarten, J.M., 'On the Testimony of Women in 1QSa', *Journal of Biblical Literature* 76 (1957), pp. 266-269.
- Baumgarten, J.M., Studies in Qumran Law (Leiden: Brill, 1977).

Baumgarten, J.M., '4Q502, Marriage or Golden Age Ritual?' *JJS* 34 (1983), pp. 125-135.

- Baumgarten, J.M., 'Qumran-Essene Restraints on Marriage', in Archaeology and History in the Dead Sea Scrolls: The New York Conference in Memory of Yigael Yadin. JSPSup 8, ed. L.H. Schiffman (Sheffield: JSOT Press, 1990), pp.13-24.
- Baumgarten, J.M., 'The Cave 4 Versions of the Qumran Penal Code', *Journal of Jewish Studies* 43 (1992), pp. 268-276.
- Baumgarten, J.M., 'Purification after Childbirth and the Sacred Garden in 4Q265 and Jubilees', in *New Qumran Texts and Studies.* STDJ 15, ed. G. J. Brooke (Leiden: Brill, 1994), pp. 3-10).
- Baumgarten, J.M., 'The Laws About Fluxes in 4QTohora^a (4Q274)', in *Time to* Prepare the Way in the Wilderness: Papers on the Qumran Scrolls by Fellows of the Institute for Advanced Studies of the Hebrew University, Jerusalem, 1989-1999. STDJ 16, eds. D. Dimant & L.H. Schiffman (Leiden: Brill, 1995), pp. 1-8.
- Baumgarten, J.M., '266-273. Introduction', in *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert* 18: *Qumran Cave 4 XIII: The Damascus Document (4Q266-273)* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1996a), pp. 1-22.
- Baumgarten, J.M., '266. 4QDamascus Document^a', in *Discoveries in the Judaean* Desert 18: Qumran Cave 4.XIII: The Damascus Document (4Q266-273) (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1996b), pp. 22-93.
- Baumgarten, J.M., '4QTohorot A-C', in *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert* 35: *Qumran Cave 4. XXV: Halakhic Texts* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1999).
- Baumgarten, J.M., '4Q265. 4Q Miscellaneous Rules', in *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert* 35: *Qumran Cave 4. XXV: Halakhic Texts* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1999).
- Baumgarten, J.M. & Schwartz, D.R., 'Damascus Document (CD), in Damascus Document, War Scroll, and Related Documents: The Dead Sea Scrolls: Hebrew, Aramaic, and Greek Texts with English Translations. Vol. 2, ed. J.H. Charlesworth (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1995), pp. 4-57.
- Beal, T., 'Reception History and Beyond: Toward the Cultural History of Scriptures', *Biblical Interpretation* 19 (2011), pp. 357-372.
- Beall, T.S., *Josephus' Description of the Essenes Illustrated by the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1988).
- Bélis, M., 'Révision Commentée des Différents Systèmes de Numérotation', in Khirbet Qumran et 'Aïn Feshkha: Études d'Anthropologie, de Physique et de Chimie, eds. J.-B. Humbert & J. Gunneweg (Fribourg: Academic Press, 2003), p. 276.
- Bernstein, M.J., 'Women and Children in Legal and Liturgical Texts from Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries*, 11, 2 (2004), pp. 191-211.
- Bird, P.A., "To Play the Harlot": An Inquiry into an Old Testament Metaphor', in *Gender and Difference in Ancient Israel*, ed. P. Day (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1989), p. 76.

- Bird, P.A., in *Anchor Bible Dictionary*, Vol. 5 (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1992), p. 951.
- Black, M., 'The Tradition of Hasidean-Essene Asceticism: Its Origin and Influence', in *Aspect due Judéo-Christianisme: Colloque de Strasbourg 23-25 Avril 1964* (Paris: Presses Universitaires de France, 1965), pp.19-33.
- Bockmuehl, M., 'Redaction and Ideology in the *Rule of the Community*', *Revue de Qumran* 18 (1998), pp. 541-547.
- Bolger, D., 'Introduction: Temporal Dimensions of Gender in Ancient Near East Archaeology', in *Gender Theory Through Time in the Ancient Near East*, ed. D. Bolger (New York: Altamira, 2008), pp. 1-20.
- Bower, B. 'Celibates Linked to Dead Sea Scrolls Site', *Science News* 192, 11 (2017), p.8.
- Branham, J., 'Hedging the Holy at Qumran: Walls as Symbolic Devices', in *Qumran:* The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates, ed. K. Galor (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 115-131.
- Breed, B., 'What is Reception History?' Available at <u>https://www.bibleodyssey.org:433/en/tools/bible-basics/what-is-reception-</u> history (Accessed 28th September, 2021).
- Brooke, G.J., 'Between Qumran and Corinth: Embroidered Allusion to Women's Authority', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls as Background to Postbiblical Judaism and Early Christianity: Papers from an International Conference at St. Andrews in 2001*, ed. J.R. Davila (Leiden: Brill, 2003), pp. 157-176.
- Brooten, B., 'Early Christian Women and Their Cultural Context: Issues of Method in Historical Reconstruction', in *Feminist Perspectives on Biblical Scholarship*. SBLBSNA 10, ed. A.Y. Collins (Chicago: Scholars, 1985), pp. 66-91.
- Broshi, M., 'Was Qumran a Crossroads?', *RevQ* 19 (1999), pp. 273-276.
- Broshi, M., 'Qumran Archaeology', in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 2, eds. L.H. Schiffman & J. VanderKam (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 733-739.
- Broshi, M., 'Essenes at Qumran? A Rejoinder to Albert Baumgarten', in *Dead Sea Discoveries* 14 (2007), pp. 25-33.
- Broshi, M. & Eshel, H., 'Residential Caves at Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 6 (1999), pp. 328-348.
- Broshi, M. & Eshel, H., 'Three Seasons of Excavations at Qumran', *Journal of Roman Archaeology* 17 (2004), pp. 321-332.
- Butler, J., *Bodies that Matter: On the Discursive Limits of 'Sex'* (New York: Routledge, 1993).
- Butler, J., *Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity* (London: Routledge, 1999 [1990]).
- Callaway, P., *The History of the Qumran Community: An Investigation*. JSPSup 3 (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press, 1988).
- Cansdale, L., 'The Visible Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls', *Ancient History Resources for Teachers* 24, 2 (1994a), pp. 141-148.

- Cansdale, L., 'Women Members in the Yahad According to the Qumran Scrolls', Proceedings of the Eleventh World Congress of Jewish Studies A (1994b), pp. 215-222.
- Cansdale, L., *Qumran and the Essenes: A Re-evaluation of the Evidence*. TSA 60 (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1997).
- Capper, B., 'The New Covenant in Southern Palestine at the Arrest of Jesus', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls as Background to Postbiblical Judaism and Early Christianity.* STDJ, ed. J. Davila (Leiden: Brill, 2003), pp. 90-116.
- Cargill, R., *Qumran Through (Real) Time: A Virtual Reconstruction of Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Piscataway: Gorgias Press, 2009).
- Chalcraft, D.J., 'Social Scientific Approaches', in *T&T Clark: Companion to the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. G.J. Brooke & C. Hempel (London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2018), pp. 235-239.
- Charlesworth, J.H. & Stuckenbruck, L.T., 'Rule of the Congregation (1QSa)', in *The* Dead Sea Scrolls: Hebrew, Aramaic and Greek Texts with English Translations, Vol. 1, Rule of the Community and Related Documents, ed. J.H. Charlesworth (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1994), pp. 108-119.
- Christ, C.P., 'Mircea Eliade and the Feminist Paradigm Shift', *JFSR* 7 (1991), pp. 75-94).
- Clamer, C., Fouilles Archéologiques de 'Aïn ez-Zâra/Callirrhoé, Villégiature Hérodienne (Beirut: Institut Français d'Archéologie du Proche-Orient, 1997).
- Clamer, C., 'Jewellery Finds from the Cemetery', in *Fouilles de Khirbet Qumran et de Ain Feshkha II*, eds. J.B. Humbert & J. Gunneweg (Fribourg: Academic Press, 2003), pp. 171-179.
- Cohen, S.J.D., 'Menstruants and the Sacred in Judaism and Christianity', in *Women's History and Ancient History*, ed. J.B. Pomeroy (London: The University of North Carolina Press, 1991), pp. 273-299.
- Cohen-Matlofsky, C., 'The Halakhah in the Making at Qumran Where Woman are Concerned', *The Qumran Chronicle* 170, 1-4 (2019), pp. 83-99.
- Collins, J.J., 'Marriage, Divorce, and Family in Second Temple Judaism', in *Families in Ancient Israel*, eds. L. Perdue, T. Blenkinsopp & C. Meyers (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1997), pp. 104-162.
- Collins, J.J., 'Family Life', in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 1, eds. L.H. Schiffman & J.C. VanderKam (New York: Oxford University Press, 1999), pp. 287-290).
- Collins, J.J., 'Introduction', in *Religion in the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. J.J. Collins & R.A. Kugler (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2000), pp. 1-8.
- Collins, J.J., 'Forms of Community in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Emanuel: Studies in Hebrew Bible Septuagint and Dead Sea Scrolls in Honor of Emanual Tov*, eds. S.M. Paul et al, VTSup. 94 (Leiden: Brill, 2002), pp. 97-111.
- Collins, J.J., 'Beyond the Qumran Community', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 16 (2009), pp. 351-369.
- Collins, J.J., *Beyond the Qumran Community. The Sectarian Movement of the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010a).

- Collins, J.J., 'Sectarian Communities in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010b), pp. 151-173.
- Collins, J.J., *The Dead Sea Scrolls: A Biography* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2013).
- Collins, J.J., *Scriptures and Sectarianism. Essays on the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2016).
- Collins, J.J., 'Jewish Communities in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Torah, Temple, Land: Texts and Studies in Ancient Judaism* 184, eds. M. Witte, J. Schröter & V. Lepper (Mohr Siebeck: Tübingen, 2021), pp. 105-116.
- Collins, J.J. & Geyser-Fouché (eds.), *Emerging Sectarianism in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Continuity, Separation, and Conflict* (Leiden: Brill, 2022).
- Collins, M.A., 'Examining the Reception and Impact of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Some Possibilities for Future Investigation', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 18, 2 (2011), pp. 226-246.
- Conkey, M.W. & Gero, J.M., 'Tensions, Pluralities and Engendering Archaeology: An Introduction to Women and Prehistory, in *Engendering Archaeology: Women and Prehistory meds*. J.M. Gero & M.W. Conkey (Oxford: Blackwell, 1991), pp. 1-12.
- Conkey, M.W. & Spector, J.D., 'Archaeology and the Study of Gender', in *Reader in Gender Archaeology*, eds. K. Hays-Gilpin & D.S. Whitley (London: Routledge, 1998).
- Connell, R.W., *Gender and Power. Society, the Person and Sexual Politics* (London: Polity, 1987).
- Connell, R.W., Masculinities (Cambridge: Polity, 1995).
- Connell, R.W. & Messerschmidt, J.W., 'Hegemonic Masculinity: Rethinking the Concept', *Gender Society* 19 (2005), pp. 829-859.
- Coogan, M.D., *The New Oxford Annotated Bible: New Revised Standard Version with the Apocrypha*. 5th Edition (New York: Oxford University Press, 2018).
- Cook, E.M., Solving the Mysteries of the Dead Sea Scrolls (Carlisle: The Paternoster Press, 1994).
- Cranny-Francis, A., Waring, W., Stavropoulos, P & Kirkby, J. (eds.), *Gender Studies: Terms and Debates* (New York: Belgrave, 2003).
- Crawford, S.W., 'Lady Wisdom and Dame Folly at Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 5 (1998), pp.355-366.
- Crawford, S.W., 'Mothers, Sisters, and Elders: Titles for Women in Second Temple Jewish and Early Christian Communities, in *The Dead Sea Scrolls as Background to Postbiblical Judaism and Early Christianity: Papers from an International Conference at St. Andrews in 2001*, ed. J.R. Davila (Leiden: Brill, 2003a), pp. 177-191.
- Crawford, S.W., 'Not According to Rule: Women, the Dead Sea Scrolls and Qumran' in *Emanuel: Studies in Hebrew Bible, Septuagint, and Dead Sea Scrolls, in Honor of Emanuel Tov*, ed. S.M. Paul (Leiden: Brill, 2003b), pp. 127-150.

- Crawford, S.W., 'Were There Women at Qumran?', *Biblical Archaeological Review*, 46, 2 (2020). Available at <u>https://baslibrary.org/biblical-archaeology-</u> review/46/2/5 (Accessed 8th December, 2021).
- Crawford, S.W., *Qumran: Caves, Scrolls and Buildings*. Available at <u>https://www.academia.edu/361016/Qumran_Caves_Scrolls_and_Buildings</u> (Accessed 29th January, 2022).
- Croom, A.T., Roman Clothing and Fashion (Stroud: Tempus, 2000).
- Cross, F.M., *The Ancient Library of Qumran and Modern Biblical Studies* (London: Duckworth, 1958).
- Cross, F.M., 'The Development of the Jewish Scripts', in *The Bible and the Ancient Near East: Essays in Honor of William Foxwell Albright*, ed. G.E. Wright (New York: Anchor, 1965), pp. 170-264.
- Cross, F.M., *The Ancient Library of Qumran.* 3rd edn. (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1995).
- Crown, A. & Cansdale, L., 'Qumran. Was it an Essene Settlement?', *Biblical Archaeology Review* 20 (1994), pp. 24-35 & 73-78.
- Csordas, T.J., 'Embodiment as a Paradigm for Anthropology', *Ethos* 1 (1990), pp. 5-47.
- Davies, D.J., 'Purity, Spirit and Reciprocity in the Acts of the Apostles', in
 Anthropology and Biblical Studies: Avenues of Approach, eds. L.J. Lawrence &
 M.I. Aguilar (Leiden: Deo, 2004).
- Davies, P.R., *Behind the Essenes: History and Ideology in the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1987).
- Davies, P.R., 'Halakhah at Qumran', in *A Tribute to Geza Vermes: Essays on Jewish and Christian Literature and History* JSOTSup 100, eds. P.R. Davies and R. White (Sheffield: JSOT Press, 1990), pp. 37-50).
- Davies, P.R., 'The Birthplace of the Essenes: Where is "Damascus"?, *Revue de Qumran* 14 (1990), pp. 503-519.
- Davies, P.R., 'Damascus Rule', in *The Anchor Bible Dictionary*. 6 Vols., eds. D.N. Freedman et al (New York: Doubleday, 1992), pp. 2:8-10.
- Davies, P.R.,'Redaction and Sectarianism in the Qumran Scrolls', in *The Scriptures and the Scrolls*. VT Supp.49, ed. F. Garcia Martinez et al (Leiden: Brill, 1992), pp. 152-163.
- Davies, P.R., 'Sects from Texts: On the Problems of Doing a Sociology of the Qumran Literature', in *New Directions in Qumran Studies*, eds. W.J. Lyons, J.G. Campbel & L.K. Pietersen (London: Bloomsbury Publishing, 2005), pp. 69-82.
- Davies, P.R. & Taylor, J.E., 'The Testimony of Women in 1QSa', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 3 (1996), pp. 223-234.
- Davies, P.R., Brooke, G.J. & Callaway, P.R., *The Complete World of the Dead Sea Scrolls* (London: Thames & Hudson, 2002).
- Davis, R., 'The History of the Composition of the "Damascus Document" (Ph.D. Dissertation. Harvard University, 1992)

- de Vaux, R., *'L'Archéologie et les Manuscrits de la Mer Morte* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1961).
- de Vaux, R., *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert III: Les 'Petites Grottes' de Qumran* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1962).
- de Vaux, R., Archaeology and the Dead Sea Scrolls: The Schweich Lectures of the British Academy 1959 (London: Oxford University Press, 1973).
- de Vaux, R., *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert VI: Qumran Grotte 4 (4Q.128-4Q.157)* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1977).
- Diamond, E., "And Jacob Remained Alone": The Jewish Struggle with Celibacy and Religious Traditions', ed. C. Olson (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008), pp. 41-64.
- Dimant, D., 'Qumran Sectarian Literature', in *Jewish Writings of the Second Temple Period*, ed. M.E. Stone (Assen: Van Gorcum, 1984), pp. 483-550.
- Dimant, D., 'The Qumran Manuscripts: Contents and Significance', in *Time to Prepare the Way in the Wilderness: Papers on the Qumran Scrolls by Fellows of the Institute for Advanced Studies of the Hebrew University, Jerusalem, 1989-1990.* STDJ16, eds. D. Dimant & L.S. Schiffman (Leiden: Brill, 1995), pp. 23-58.
- Dimant, D., 'Sectarian and Non Sectarian Texts: The Pertinence and Usage of a Taxonomy', *Revue de Qumran* 24, 1 (2009), pp. 7-18.
- Dimant, D., 'Sectarian and Nonsectarian Texts from Qumran: The Pertinence and Use of a Taxonomy', in *History, Ideology, and Biblical Interpretation in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Collected Studies*. FAT 90 (Tübingen: Mohr Sieback, 2014b), pp. 101-111.
- Doering, L., 'Marriage and Creation in Mark 10 and CD 4-5', in *Echoes from the Caves: Qumran and the New Testament*, ed. F.G. Martinez (Leiden: Brill, 2009), pp. 133-163.
- Donceel-Voûte, P., 'Les Ruines de Qumran Réinterprétées', *Archéologia* 298 (1994), pp. 24-25.
- Donceel, R., 'Antique Glass from Khirbet Qumran', *Bulletin de L'Institut Royal du Patrimoine Artistique* 28 (1999/2000), pp. 9-40.
- Donceel, R. & Donceel-Voûte, P., 'The Archaeology of Khirbet Qumran', *MIDSSKQS* (1994), pp. 1-38.
- Driver, G.R., *The Judaean Scrolls: The Problem and a Solution* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1965).
- Duhaime, J., 'War Scrolls', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls*. Vol. 2, *Hebrew, Aramaic, and Greek Fragments with English Translation: Damascus Document, War Scroll, and Related Documents*. PTDSR 3, ed. J.H. Charlesworth (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1995), pp. 80-82.
- Duncan, N. 'Renegotiating Gender and Sexuality in Public and Private Spaces', in *BodySpace: Destabilising Geographies of Gender and Sexuality* (London: Routledge, 1996).
- Dupont-Sommer, A., *The Jewish Sect of Qumran and the Essenes: New Studies on the Dead Sea Scrolls* (London: Mitchell & Co., 1954).

Ebeling, J., Women's Lives in Biblical Times (London: T.&T. Clark, 2010).

- Elder, L. Bennett, 'The Woman Question and Female Ascetics Among Essenes', *BA* 57 (1994), pp. 220-234.
- Eriksen, T.H., *What is Anthropology.* 2nd Edition (London: Pluto Press, 2017).
- Eshel, H., Qumran. Scrolls, Caves, History (Carta: Jerusalem, 2009).
- Eshel, H., Broshi, M., Freund, R. & Schultz, B., 'New Data from the Cemetery East of Khirbet Qumran', in *Dead Sea Discoveries* 9 (2002), pp 135-164.
- Esler, P., 'Introverted Sectarianism at Qumran and in the Johannine Community', in The First Christians' Social Worlds: Social and Scientific Approaches to New Testament Interpretation (London: Routledge, 1994), pp. 70-91.
- Exum, J.C., 'Feminist Study of the Old Testament', in *Text in Context: Essays by Members of the Society for Old Testament Studies*, ed. A.D.H. Mayes (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 86-115.
- Falk, D., *Daily, Sabbath and Festival Prayers in the Dead Sea Scrolls*. STDJ 27 (Leiden: Brill, 1998).
- Feather, R., *Black Holes in the Dead Sea Scrolls* (London: Watkins Publishing, 2012).
- Fish, S., Doing What Comes Naturally: Change, Rhetoric, and the Practice of Theory in Literary and Legal Studies (Durham: Duke University Press, 1989).
- Fonrobert, C.E., *Menstrual Purity: Rabbinic and Christian Reconstructions of Biblical Gender* (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2000).
- Fraade, S.D., The Damascus Document (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2021).
- Frevel, C. & Nihan, C., 'Introduction', in *Purity and the Forming of Religious Traditions in the Ancient Mediterranean and Ancient Judaism*. DHR 3, eds. C. Frevel & C. Nihan (Leiden: Brill, 2013), pp. 1-47.
- Fröhlich, I., 'Defining Sectarian by "Non-Sectarian" Narratives in Qumran', in *IJS Studes in Judaica,* Volume 12, ed. S. Stern (Leiden: Brill, 2011), pp. 63-86.
- Fuchs, E., 'Points of Resonance', in On the Cutting Edge: The Study of Women in Biblical Worlds, eds. J. Schaberg, A. Bach, & E. Fuchs (New York: Continuum, 2004), pp. 1-20.
- Gadamer, H-G., *Truth and Method*, trans. J. Weinsheimer and D.G. Marshall, 2nd edn. (London: Continuum, 2004), pp.276-277.
- Galor, K., 'Gender and Qumran', in *Holistic Qumran: Trans-disciplinary Research of Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. J. Gunneweg, A. Adriaens & J. Dik (Leiden: Brill, 2010a), pp. 29-38.
- Galor, K., in *Qumran, the Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological* Interpretations and Debates. Proceedings of a Conference Held at Brown University, November 17-19, 2002, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert & J. Zangenberg (Leiden: Brill, 2010b).
- Galor, K., 'Women at Qumran? Between Texts and Objects', *Clio. Women, Gender, History*, 40, 2 (2014), pp. 17-41.
- Garnet, P., Salvation and Atonement in the Scrolls (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1977).

Gasparini, V., Patzelt, M., Raja, R., Rieger, A.-K., Rüpke, J. & Urciuoli, E.R., 'Pursuing Lived Ancient Religion', in Gasparini et al (eds), *Lived Religion in the Ancient Mediterranean World* (Berlin: de Gruyter, 2020), pp. 1-10.

- Geyser-Fouché, A, 'Emerging Sectarianism in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Continuity, Separation, and Conflict", in *Emerging Sectarianism in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Continuity, Separation, and Conflict*, eds. J.J. Collins & A. Geyser-Fouché (Leiden: Brill, 2022), pp.1-13.
- Gilchrist, R., *Contemplation and Action: The Other Monasticism* (London: Leicester University Press, 1995).
- Gillihan, Y.M., Civic Ideology, Organization, and Law in the Rule Texts from Qumran: A Comparative Study of the Covenanter' Sect and Contemporary Voluntary Associations in Political Context. STDJ97 (Leiden: Brill, 2012).
- Ginzberg, L., Eine Unbekannte Jüdische Sekte (New York: Hildesheim, 1972).
- Golb, N., 'The Problem of Origin and Identification of the Dead Sea Scrolls', Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 124 (1980), pp.1-24.
- Golb, N., Who Wrote the Dead Sea Scrolls? The Search for the Secret of Qumran (New York: Scribner, 1995).
- Goldenberg, N., *Changing of the Gods: Feminism and the End of Traditional Religion* (London: Beacon, 1980).
- Golf, M., 'Hellish Females: The Strange Woman of Septuagint Proverbs and 4Q Wiles of the Wicked Woman (4Q184)', *JSJ* 39 (2008), pp. 20-45.
- Grahn, J., 'From Sacred Blood to the Curse and Beyond', *in The Politics of Women's Spirituality: Essays on the Rise of Spiritual Power Within the Feminist Movement*, ed. C. Spretnak (New York: Anchor, 1982), pp. 260-275.
- Gross, R.M., A Garland of Feminist Reflections: Forty Years of Religious Exploration (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2009).
- Grossman, M.L., *Reading for History in the Damascus Document: A Methodological Study* (Leiden: Brill, 2002).
- Grossman, M.L., 'Reading for Gender in the Damascus Document', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 11, 2 (2004), pp. 212-239.
- Grossman, M.L. 'Women and Men in the Rule of the Congregation: A Feminist Critical Assessment', in *Rediscovering the Dead Sea Scrolls: An Assessment of Old and New Methods and Approaches*, ed. M.L. Grossman (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010), pp. 229-245.
- Grossman, M.L., 'Rethinking Gender in the *Community Rule*: An Experiment in Sociology', in *Dead Sea Scrolls and Contemporary* Culture, eds. A.D. Roitman, L.H. Schiffman & S. Tzoref (Leiden: Brill, 2011), pp. 497-512.
- Grossman, M.L., 'Gendered Sectarians: Envisioning Women (and Men) at Qumran', in Celebrate Her for the Fruit of Her Hands: Essays in Honor of Carol L. Meyers, eds. S. Ackerman, C.E. Carter & B.A. Nakhai (Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 2015), pp. 265-287.
- Grossman, M.L., 'How Do The Dead Sea Scrolls Help Us to Think About Gender in Ancient Judaism?', in *A Most Reliable Witness*, eds. S.A. Harvey, N.P.

DesRosiers, S.L. Lander, J.Z. Pastis & D. Ullucci (Atlanta: SBL Press, 2015), pp. 49-58.

- Grossman, M. L., 'The World of Qumran and the Sectarian Dead Sea Scrolls in Gendered Perspective', in *Early Jewish Writings*, eds. E.M. Schuller & M.-T. Wacker (Atlanta: SBL Press, 2017), pp. 225-246.
- Grossman, M. L., 'Queerly Sectarian: Jewish Difference, the Dead Sea Scrolls, and Marital Disciplines', *Journal of Jewish Identities* 11.1 (2018), pp. 87-105.
- Grossman, M.L., 'Sectarian Marital Practice: Rethinking the Role of Sexuality in the Dead Sea Scrolls', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 26 (2019), pp. 339-361.
- Grosz, E., Volatile Bodies: Towards a Corporeal Feminism (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1994).
- Hachlili, R. 'The Qumran Community: A Reconsideration', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls, Fifty Years After Their Discovery. Proceedings of the Jerusalem Congress, July 20-25, 1997*, eds. L.H. Schiffman, E. Tov & J.C. VanderKam (Jerusalem: Israel Exploration Society and the Shrine of the Book, the Israel Museum, 2000), pp. 661-667. Available at <u>http://cojs.org/the_qumran_cemetery-</u> <u>a_reconsideration-_rachel_hachlili/</u> (Accessed 8th January, 2022).
- Hachlili, R., 'The Qumran Cemetery Reassessed', in *The Oxford Handbook of The Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp. 46-78.
- Hachlili, R., 'Communal Meals at Qumran Revisited', *Revue de Qumran* 28 (2016), pp. 215-256.
- Hanan, E., Broshi, M., Freund, R. & Schultz, B., 'New Data on the Cemetery East of Khirbet of Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 9, 2 (2002), pp. 135-165.
- Harrington, H.K., 'Biblical Law at Qumran', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls After Fifty Years: A Comprehensive Assessment*, Vol. 1, eds. P.W. Flint & J.C. VanderKam (Leiden: Brill, 1998), pp. 160-175.
- Harrington, H.K., 'Purity', in *The Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 2, eds.
 L.H. Schiffman & J.C. VanderKam (New York: Oxford University Press, 2000), p. 726.
- Harrington, H.K., *The Purity Texts. Companion to the Qumran Scrolls 5* (London: T.&T. Clark, 2004).
- Hatchell, H., 'Gender', in *International Encyclopedia of Men and Masculinities*, ed. M. Flood et al (London: Routledge, 2007), pp. 232-235.
- Hays-Gilpin, K. & Whitley, D.S. (eds), *Reader in Gender Archaeology* (London: Routledge, 1998).
- Hayes, C.E., 'Intermarriage and Impurity in Ancient Jewish Sources', *HTR* 92 (1999), pp. 3-36.
- Hayes, C.E., Gentile Impurities and Jewish Identities: Intermarriage and Conversion from the Bible to the Talmud (New York: Oxford University Press, 2002).
- Heger, P., 'Celibacy in Qumran: Hellenistic Fiction or Reality? Qumran's Attitude Toward Sex', *Revue de Qumran* 26 (2013), pp. 53-90).
- Heger, P., Women in the Bible, Qumran and Early Rabbinic Literature: Their Status and Roles (Leiden: Brill, 2014).

- Hempel, C., Shared Tradition: Points of Contact Between S and D. Available at <u>https://www.academia.edu/242920/Shared_Tradition_Points_of_Contact_Betw</u> <u>een_S_and_D</u> (Accessed 03.09.2022).
- Hempel, C., 'The Earthly Nucleus of 1QSa', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 3 (1996), pp. 253-269.
- Hempel, C., 'The Penal Code Reconsidered', in Legal Texts and Legal Issues: Proceedings of the Second Meeting of the International Organisation for Qumran Studies, Cambridge 1995, eds. M. Bernstein, F.G. Martinez and J. Kampen (Leiden: Brill, 1997), pp. 337-348.
- Hempel, C., *The Laws of the Damascus Document: Sources, Tradition, and Redaction.* STDJ 29 (Leiden: Brill, 1998).
- Hempel, C., Community Structures in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Admission, Organisation, Disciplinary Procedures (1999). Available at <u>https://www.academia.edu/3662483/Community_Structures_in_the_Dead_Sea</u> <u>Scrolls_Admission_Organisation_Disciplinary_Procedures</u> (Accessed 03.09.2022).
- Hempel, C., 'Qumran Community', in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 2, eds. L.H. Schiffman & J.C. VanderKam (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 746-751.
- Hempel, C., The Damascus Texts (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic, 2000).
- Hempel, C. 'Review of *Women in the Damascus Document* by Cecilia Wassen', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 15, 3 (2008), pp. 419-420.
- Hempel, C., 'Emerging Communal Life and Ideology in the S Tradition', in *Defining Identities: 'We', 'You' and the 'Others' in the Dead Sea Scrolls*. STDJ 70, eds.G. Martinez & M. Popović (Leiden: Brill, 2008a), pp. 43-61.
- Hempel, C., *The Qumran Rule Texts in Context: Collected Studies* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2013).
- Hempel, C., 'The Theatre of the Written Word: Reading the Community Rule with Steven Fraade', in *The Faces of Torah: Studies in the Texts and Contexts of Ancient Judaism in Honor of Steven Fraade*, eds. M. Bar-Asher Siegal, T.
 Novick & C. Hayes (Göttingen: Vanderhoeck & Rubreck, 2017), pp. 119-130.
- Hempel, C., 'The Dead Sea Scrolls: Challenging the Particularist Paradigm', in *Torah, Temple, Land: Texts and Studies in Ancient Judaism* 184, eds. M. Witte, J. Schröter & V. Lepper (Mohr Siebeck: Tübingen, 2021), pp. 91-104.
- Himmelfarb, M. 'Impurity and Sin in 4QD, 1QS and 5Q512', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 8 (2001), pp. 9-37.
- Hirschfeld, Y., *Qumran in Context: Reassessing the Archaeological Evidence* (Peabody: Hendrickson Publishers, 2004).
- Hogeterp, A., 'The Origins of Sectarian Boundary Marking and the Shifters of the Boundary: The Damascus Document and Cultural Memory', in *Emerging* Sectarianism in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Continuity, Separation, and Conflict, eds.
 J.J. Collins & A. Geyser-Fouché (Leiden: Brill, 2022), pp.145-169.
- Humbert, J.-B., 'L'Espace Sacré à Qumran. Proposition pour L'Archéologie', *Revue Biblique* 101 (1994), pp.161-214.

- Humbert, J.-B., 'Some Remarks on the Archaeology of Qumran', *in Qumran: The* Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates, ed. K. Galor (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 17-39.
- Humbert, J.-B. & Chambon, A., *Fouilles de Khirbet Qumrân et Ain Feshka 1B.* Synthesis of Roland de Vaux's Field Notes (Fribourg: University Press, 1994).
- Ilan, T., Integrating Jewish Women into Second Temple History (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1999).
- Ilan, T., 'Women in Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *The Oxford Handbook of The Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp. 123-147.
- Ilan, T., 'Reading for Women in IQSa (Serekh Ha-Edah), in *The Dead Sea Scrolls in Context: Integrating the Dead Sea Scrolls in the Study of Ancient Texts, Languages, and Cultures*, eds. A. Lange, E Tov & M. Weigold (Leiden: Brill, 2011), pp. 61-76.
- Isaksson, A., Marriage and Ministry in the New Temple: A Study with Special Reference to Mt. 19.12-13 and 1 Cor. 11.3-6 (Lund: C.W.K. Gleerup, 1965).
- Iser, W., *The Act of Reading: A Theory of Aesthetic Response* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1978).
- Jackson, S. & Scott, S., 'American Scholarship on Jewish Law in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls in Scholarly Perspectives: A History of Research*. STDJ 99, eds. D. Dimant & I. Kottsieper (Leiden: Brill, 2012), pp. 101-154.
- Jackson, S. & Scott, S., 'Putting the Body's Feet on the Ground: Towards a Sociological Reconceptualisation of Gendered and Sexual Embodiment', in *Constructing Gender*, eds. K. Backett-Milburn & L. McKie (Basingstoke: Palgrave, 2001), pp. 9-23.
- Japhet, S., 'The Prohibition of the Habitation of Women: The Temple Scroll's Attitude Toward Sexual Impurity and its Biblical Precedents', *Journal of the Annual Near Eastern Society* 22 (1993), pp. 69-87.
- Jokiranta, J., "Sectarianism" of the Qumran "Sect": Sociological Notes', *Revue de Qumran* 20 (2001), pp. 223-239.
- Jokiranta, J., 'Social Scientific Approaches to the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Rediscovering the Dead Sea Scrolls*, ed. M.L. Grossman (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010a), pp. 246-263.
- Jokiranta, J., 'Sociological Approaches to Qumran Sectarianism', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010b), pp. 200-231.
- Jokiranta, J., 'Ritual system in the Qumran Movement: Frequency, Boredom and Balance', in *Mind, Morality, and Magic: Cognitive Science Approaches in Biblical Studies*, eds. I. Czachesz & R. Uro (Durham: Acumen, 2013a), pp. 144-163.
- Jokiranta, J., 'Serakhim and Sectarianism', in J. Jokiranta, *Social Identity and Sectarianism in the Qumran Movement*. STDJ 105 (Leiden: Brill, 2013b), pp.17-76).

- Jokiranta, J. & Wassén, C., 'A Brotherhood at Qumran? Metaphorical Familial Language in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Northern Lights on the Dead Sea Scrolls*, STDJ 80, eds. A. Klostergaard Petersen et al (Leiden: Brill, 2009), pp. 173-203.
- Joyce, R.A., *Ancient Bodies, Ancient Lives: Sex, Gender and Archaeology* (London: Thames & Hudson, 2008).
- Kampen, J., 'The Matthean Divorce Texts Reexamined', in New Qumran Texts and Studies: Proceedings of the First Meeting of the International Organisation for Qumran Studies, Paris, 1992. STDJ 15, ed. G.J. Brooke (Leiden: Brill, 1994), pp.147-169.
- Katzin, D., 'A Common Tradition Underlying the Temptation Pericope of Matthew 4:1-11 and the Qumran Psalm Pesher (4QpPsa, 4Q171), *Journal of Ancient Judaism*, 12, 1 (2021), pp.1-47.
- Kazen, T., *Emotions in Biblical Law: A Cognitive Science Approach*, HBM 36 (Sheffield: Sheffield Phoenix, 2011).
- Keady, J.M., Vulnerability and Valour. A Gendered Analysis of Everyday Life in the Dead Sea Scrolls Community (London: T.&T. Clark, 2017).
- Keady, J.M., 'A Gendered Reading of Purity and Boundaries: 4QTohorot A (4Q274) as a Case Study', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 26 (2019), pp. 295-313.
- Keady, J.M., 'Masculinities and the Men of the Qumran Communities: Reevaluating the Ideals of Purification, Power, and Performance in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Dead Sea Scrolls, Revise and Repeat: New Methods and Perspectives*, eds. C. Palmer, A.R. Krause, E. Schuller (Atlanta: SBL Press, 2020), pp.30-325
- Kiel, Y., Sexuality in the Babylonian Talmud: Christian and Sasanian Contexts in Late Antiquity (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2016).
- Kim, D.W., 'Hearing the Unsung Voice: Women in the Qumran Community', International Journal of Humanities and Social Science 2, 19 (2012), pp. 275-282.
- Kirby, V., *Telling Flesh: The Substance of the Corporeal* (New York: /Routledge, 1994).
- Klawans, J., *Impurity and Sin in Ancient Judaism* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).
- Knibb, M.A., *The Qumran Community* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1987).
- Knibb, M.A., 'Community Organization in the Damascus Document', in *Encyclopedia* of the Dead Sea Scrolls, Vol. 1, eds. L.H. Schiffman & J.C. VanderKam (New York: Oxford University Press, 1999), pp.138.
- Knight, M., 'Wirkungsgeschichte, Reception Theory', *Journal for the Study of the New Testament* 33, 2 (2010), pp. 137-146.
- Kontos, P.C., 'Local Biology: Bodies of Difference in Ageing Studies', *Ageing Studies* 19 (1999), pp. 677-689.
- Kraemer, R.S., 'Women in the Religions of the Greco-Roman Word', *Religious Studies Review* 9 (1983), pp. 127-139).

- Kraemer, R.S., Her Share of the Blessings: Women's Religions Among Pagans, Jews, and Christians in the Greco-Roman World (New York: Oxford University Press, 1992).
- Kugler, R. & Chazon, E., 'Women at Qumran: Introducing the Essays', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 11, 2 (2004), pp.167-173.
- Lange, A., 'Annotated List of the Texts from the Judaean Desert Classified by Content and Genre', in *The Texts from the Judaean Desert. Indices and an Introduction to the Discoveries in the Judaean Desert Series (DJD 39)*, ed. E. Tov (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2002), pp. 115-164.
- Lange, A., 'Wisdom Literature and Thought in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp.455-478.
- Lemos, T., 'Where There Is Dirt, Is There System? Revisiting Biblical Purity Constructions', *Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* 37 (2013), p. 265-294.
- Lieber, L.S., 'Jewish Women: Texts and Contexts', in *A Companion to Women in the Ancient World*, eds. S.J. James and S.D. Wiley (London: Blackwell, 2012), pp. 329-342.
- Lim, T.H., *The Dead Sea Scrolls: A Very Short Introduction*, 2nd Edition (Oxford: Oxford University, 2017).
- Lipka, H.B., *Sexual Transgression in the Hebrew Bible* (Sheffield: Sheffield Phoenix, 2006).
- Loader, W.R.G., *The Dead Sea Scrolls on Sexuality: Attitudes Towards Sexuality in Sectarian and Related Literature at Qumran* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009).
- Loader, W.R.G., The New Testament on Sexuality (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2012).
- Magen, Y. & Peleg, Y., *The Qumran Excavations 1993-2004: Preliminary Report* (Jerusalem: Israel Antiquities Authority, 2007).
- Magness, J., 'The Community at Qumran in Light of its Pottery', in *Method of Investigation of the Dead Sea Scrolls and the Khirbet Qumran Site: Present Realities and Future Prospects.* Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 722 (New York: New York Academy of Sciences, 1994), pp. 39-50.
- Magness, J., 'The Chronology of the Settlement at Qumran in the Herodian Period', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 2, 1 (1995), pp. 58-65.
- Magness, J., 'Qumran Archaeology: Past Perspectives and Future Prospects', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls After Fifty Years: A Comprehensive Assessment*. Vol. 1, eds.
 P. Flint & J.C. VanderKam (Boston: Brill, 1998), pp. 44-77.
- Magness, J., 'Women at Qumran?', in *Paper presented in the Qumran section of the* Society of Biblical Literature Annual Meeting, Nashville, TN, November 2000.
- Magness, J., 'Communal Meals and Sacred Space at Qumran', in *Shaping Community: The Art and Archaeology of Monasticism*, ed. S. McNally (Oxford: *BAR Publishing - International Series*, 2001), pp. 15-28.
- Magness, J., *The Archaeology of Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002).

- Magness, J., *Debating Qumran: Collected Essays on its Archaeology* (Leuven: Peeters, 2004).
- Magness, J., 'Qumran: The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: A Review Article', *Revue de Qumran* 88 (2007), pp.
- Magness, J., Stone and Dung, Oil and Spit: Jewish Daily Life in the Time of Jesus (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2011).
- Magness, J., *The Archaeology of Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls.* 2nd Edition (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2021).
- Martin, D., 'Slavery and the Ancient Jewish Family', in *The Jewish Family in Antiquity*. BJS 289, ed. S. Cohen (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1993), pp. 112-129.
- Martinez, F.G. & van der Woude, A.S., 'A "Groningen" Hypothesis of Qumran and Early History', *Revue de Qumran 14* (1990), pp. 521-541.
- Martzavou, P, 'Dream Narrative and Construction of Hope in the 'Healing Miracles' of Epidaurus', in *Unveiling the Emotions: Sources and Methods for the Study of the Emotions in the Greek World*, ed. A. Chaniotis (Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag, 2012), pp. 172-204.
- Mason, S., 'What Josephus Says about Essenes in his Judean War', in *Text and Artifact in the Religions of Mediterranean Antiquity: Essays in Honour of Peter Richardson*, eds. S.G. Wilson & M. Desjardins (Waterloo, Ontario: Wilfrid Laurier University Press, 2000), pp. 434-467).
- Massey, D., Space, Place and Gender (Cambridge: Polity, 2002).
- McDonald, M.A., *Roman Manliness: Virtus and the Roman Republic* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006).
- Mellor, P.A. and Shilling, S., *Reforming the Body: Religion, Community and Modernity* (London: SAGE, 1997).
- Metso, S., *The Textual Development of the Qumran Community Rule* (Leiden: Brill, 1997).
- Meyer, N.A., 'Sexuality and Self-Deprecation in the Thanksgiving Psalms: Questions of Celibacy and the Presence of Women in the Yahad', in *Dead Sea Scrolls, Revise and Repeat*, eds. C. Palmer, A.R. Krause, E. Schuller & J. Screnock (Atlanta: SBL Press, 2020), pp. 279-304.
- Meyers, C., *Discovering Eve: Ancient Israelite Women in Context* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1988).
- Meyers, E. 'Khirbet Qumran and its Environs', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp. 21-45.
- Milik, J.T., *Ten Years of Discovery in the Judean Wilderness* (London: SCM Press, 1959).
- Misgav, H., 'The Ostraca', in *Back to Qumran, Final Report (1993-2004)*, eds. Y. Magen & Y. Peleg (Jerusalem: Israel Antiquities Authority, 2018), pp. 431-441.
- Mizzi, D.J., 'The Glass from Khirbet Qumran: What Does it Tell Us About the Qumran Community?' in *The Dead Sea Scrolls: Texts and Contexts.* STDJ 90, ed. C. Hempel (Leiden: Brill, 2010), pp. 99-198.

- Mizzi, D.J., 'Qumran Period I Reconsidered: An Evaluation of Several Competing Theories', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 22 (2015), pp.1-41.
- Mizzi, D.J., 'Miscellaneous Artefacts from the Qumran Caves: An exploration of Their Significance', in *The Caves of Qumran: Proceedings of the International Conference, Lugano 2014.* STDJ 118, ed. M. Fidanzio (Leiden: Brill, 2017), pp. 137-160.
- Mizzi, D.J., 'Qumran at Seventy: Reflections on Seventy Years of Scholarship on the Archaeology of Qumran and the Dead Sea Scrolls', *Strata: Bulletin of the Anglo-Israel Archaeological Society* 35 (2017a), pp. 9-45.
- Mizzi, D.J., 'Qumran in the Late Hellenistic Period', in *Emerging Sectarianism in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Continuity, Separation, and Conflict*, eds. J.J. Collins & A. Geyser-Fouché (Leiden: Brill, 2022), pp.345-433
- Murphy, C., Wealth in the Dead Sea Scrolls and in the Qumran Community. STDJ 40 (Leiden: Brill, 2002).
- Murphy, T., *Pliny the Elder's Natural History: The Empire in the Encyclopaedia* (New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2004).
- Murphy-O'Connor, J., 'The Essenes and Their History', *Revue Biblique* 81 (1974), p. 224.
- Nagar, Y., Aharonovitch, Y., Hanania, H. & Traubman, D., 'Conclusive Palaeodemographic Analysis, Based on New Anthropological Data from the Cemetery of Qumran', *Revue de Qumran* 34, 1 (2022), pp. 3-70.
- Nati, J., 'The Community Rule or Rules for the Communities?: Contextualising the Qumran Serakhim', in Sibyl, Scripture, and Scrolls: John Collins at Seventy. 2 Vols, eds. J. Baden, H. Najman & E. Tigchelaar. JSJSup. 175 (Leiden: Brill, 2016), pp. 916-929.
- Neusner, J., 'Purity and Impurity in Judaism', in *The Encyclopedia of Judaism*, Vol. 3, *P-Z*, ed. J. Neusner et al (Leiden: Brill, 2000), pp. 1109-1124.
- Newsom, C.A., "Sectually Explicit" Literature from Qumran', in *The Hebrew Bible and its Interpreters*, eds. W.H. Propp, B. Halpern & D.N. Freedman (Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 1990), pp. 167-187).
- Newsom, C.A., *The Self as Symbolic Space: Constructing Identity and Community at Qumran.* STDJ 52 (Leiden: Brill, 2004).
- Newton, M., *The Concept of Purity at Qumran and in the Letters of Paul* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1985).
- Noam, V., 'Divorce in Qumran in Light of Early Halakhah', *JJS* 56 (2005), pp. 206-223.
- Norton, J.D.H., 'Reassessment of Controversial Studies on the Cemetery', in *Fouilles de Khirbet Qumran et de Aïn Feshkha II*, eds. J.B. Humbert & J. Gunneweg (Fribourg: Academic Press; Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2003), pp. 107-127).
- Økland, J., "Men Are From Mars and Women are From Venus". On the Relationship Between Religion, Gender and Space', in *Gender, Religion and Diversity: Cross Cultural Perspective*, eds. U. King & T. Beattie (London: Continuum, 2004), pp. 152-161.

- Olson, C., 'Celibacy and the Human Body: An Introduction', in *Celibacy and Religious Traditions*, ed. C. Olson (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008), pp. 3-21.
- Patrich, J., 'Khirbet Qumran in the Light of New Archaeological Explorations in the Qumran Caves', in *Methods of Investigation of the Dead Sea Scrolls and the Khirbet Qumran Site: Present Realities and Future Prospects*. ANYAS 722, ed. M.O. Wise et al (New York: New York Academy of Sciences, 1994), pp. 73-95.
- Patrich, J., 'Did Extra-Mural Dwelling Quarters Exist at Qumran?, in *The Dead Sea Scrolls Fifty Years after their Discovery: Proceedings of the Jerusalem Congress, July 20-25, 1997*, eds. L.H. Schiffman, E. Tov & J.C. VanderKam (Jerusalem: Israel Exploration Society/Shrine of the Book, 2000), pp. 720-727.
- Peskowitz, M., 'Engendering Jewish Religious History', in *Judaism Since Gender*, eds. M. Peskowitz & L. Levitt (New York: Routledge, 1997), pp. 17-39.
- Petridou, G., 'Emplotting the Divine: Epiphanic Narratives as Means of Enhancing Agency', *Religion in the Roman Empire* 1, 3 (2015), pp. 321-342.
- Petridou, G., 'Introduction: Lived Ancient Religion and the Body', *Religion in the Roman Empire* 3, 2 (2017), pp. 137-142.
- Pfann, S.J., 'Cryptic Texts', in S.J. Pfann, *Qumran Cave 4.XXVI: Cryptic Texts, Miscellanea, Part 1 (DJD* 36. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2000a), pp. 515-574.
- Pfann, S.J., 'A Table in the Wilderness: Pantries and Tables, Pure Food and Sacred Space at Qumran', in S.J. Pfann, *Qumran Cave 4.XXVI: Cryptic Texts, Miscellanea, Part 1 (DJD* 36. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2000b), pp. 159-178.
- Philip, T., *Menstruation and Childbirth in the Bible: Fertility and Impurity* (New York: Peter Lang, 2006).
- Politis, K.D., 'The Discovery and Excavation of the Khirbet Qazone Cemetery and its Significance Relative to Qumran', in *Qumran: The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls. Archaeological Interpretation and Debates*, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert & J. Zangenberg (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 213-219.
- Popović, M., 'Qumran as Scroll Storehouse in Times of Crisis? A Comparative Perspective on Judaean Desert Manuscript Collections', *Journal for the Study of Judaism* 43 (2012), pp. 551-594.
- Popović, M., 'The Ancient "Library" of Qumran. Between Urban and Rural Culture', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls and the Concept of a Library.* STJD 116, eds. S.W. Crawford & C. Wassen (Leiden: Brill, 2015), pp.155-167.
- Popović, M. 'Reading, Writing, and Memorizing Together: Reading Culture in Ancient Judaism and the Dead Sea Scrolls in a Mediterranean Context', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 24, 3 (2017), pp. 447-470.
- Qimron, E., 'Celibacy in the Dead Sea Scrolls and the Two Kinds of Sectarian', in *The Madrid Qumran Congress: Proceedings of the International Congress on the Dead Sea Scrolls, Madrid 18th-19th March, 1991*, Vol. 1, STDJ11, eds. J.T. Barrera et al (Leiden: Brill, 1992), pp. 287-294.
- Qimron, E. & Strugnell, J., 'Halakhic Polemics in New Fragments from Cave 4', in Biblical Archaeology Today: Proceedings of the International Congress on

Biblical Archaeology, Jerusalem, April 1984 (Jerusalem: Israel Exploration Society, 1985), pp. 400-407.

- Qimron, E. & Strugnell, J., *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert X: Qumran Cave 4.V* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1994).
- Qimron, E. & Charlesworth, J.H., 'Introduction', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls: Hebrew, Aramaic, and Greek Texts with English Translation*, Vol. 1, eds. J.H. Charlesworth et al (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 1994), pp. 1-53.
- Regev, E., 'Family, Burial, Family Structure, and the Urbanization of Herodian Jerusalem, *Palestine Exploration Quarterly* 136, 2 (2004), pp. 109-131.
- Regev, E., *Sectarianism in Qumran: A Cross-Cultural Perspective*. Religion and Society 45 (Berlin: de Gruyter, 2007).
- Regev, E., 'Cherchez les Femmes: Were the Yahad Celibates?', Dead Sea Discoveries 15 (2008), pp. 253-284.
- Regev, E., 'The Archaeology of Sectarianism: Ritual, Resistance and Hierarchy in Kh. Qumran', *Revue de Qumran* 24/94 (2009), pp. 175-214.
- Regev, E., *Sectarianism in Qumran: A Cross-Cultural Perspective*. Religion and Society 45 (Berlin: de Gruyter, 2018).
- Rengstorf, K.H., *Hirbet Qumran und die Bibliotek vom Toten Meer* (Stuttgart: Kohlhammer, 1960).
- Rengstorf, K.H., *Khirbet Qumran and the Problem of the Dead Sea Cave Scrolls* (Leiden: Brill, 1963).
- Renne, E.P. & van der Walle, E., 'Introduction', in *Regulating Menstruation: Beliefs, Practices, Interpretations*, eds. E.P. Renne & E. van de Walle (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2001), pp. xiii-xxxix.
- Richardson, N.H., 'Some Notes on 1QSa', JBL 76 (1957), pp. 108-122.
- Roberts, J., 'Introduction', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Reception History of the Bible*, eds. M. Lieb, E.Mason, J. Roberts, and C. Rowland (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011), pp. 1-8.
- Röhrer-Ertl, O., Rohrhirsch, F. & Hahn, D., 'Űber die Gräberfelder von Khirbet Qumran, Inbesondere die Funde der Campagne 1956: I: Anthropologische Datenvorlage und Erstauwertung Aufgrund der Collectio Kurth', *Revue de Qumran* 19 (1999), pp. 3-46.
- Röhrer-Ertl, O., 'Facts and Results Based on Skeletal Remains from Qumran Found in the Collectio Kurth – a Study in Methodology', in *Qumran: The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates: Proceedings of a Conference Held at Brown University, November 17-19, 2002*, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert and J. Zangenberg (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 181-193.
- Rothstein D., 'Women's Testimony at Qumran: The Biblical and Second Temple Evidence', *Revue de Qumran* 21 (2004), pp. 597-614.
- Rosen-Zvi, I., in *The Shalvi/Hyman Encyclopedia of Jewish Women*. Available at <u>https://www.jwa.org/encyclopedia/article/sotah</u> (Accessed 24th November, 2021).
- Roussin, L. 'Costume in Roman Palestine: Archaeological Remains and the Evidence from the Mishan', in *The World of Roman Costume*, eds. J.L. Sebesta

& L. Bonfante (Madison: The University of Wisconsin Press, 2001), pp. 182-190.

- Ruane, N.J., 'Bathing, Status and Gender in Priestly Ritual', in A Question of Sex? Gender and Difference in the Hebrew Bible and Beyond, Hebrew Bible Monographs 14, ed. D.W. Rooke (Sheffield: Sheffield Phoenix Press, 2007), pp. 66-81.
- Ruane, N.J., *Sacrifice and Gender in Biblical Law* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013).
- Ruether, R.R., 'Women's Body and Blood: The Sacred and the Impure', in *Through the Devil's Gateway: Women, Religion and Taboo*, ed. A. Joseph (London: SPCK, 1990), pp. 7-21.
- Sacks, M., 'An Anthropological and Postmodern Critique of Jewish Feminist Theory', in *Gender and Judaism. The Transformation of Tradition*, ed. T.M. Rudavsky (New York: New York University Press, 1995), pp. 295-307.
- Safrai, S., 'Home and Family', in *Jewish People in the First Century: Historical Geography, Political History, Social, Cultural and Religious Life and Institution,* Vol. 2, eds. S. Safrai & M. Stern (Assen: Fortress, 1976), pp. 728-793.
- Sanders, E.P., Jesus and Judaism (London: SCM, 1985).
- Sanders, E.P., 'The Dead Sea Sect and Other Jews: Commonalities, Overlaps and Difference', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls in Their Historical Context*, ed. T.H. Lim (Edinburgh: T.&T. Clark, 2000), pp. 7-44.
- Satlow, M.L., "Try to be a Man": The Rabbinic Construction of Masculinity', *HTR* 89 (1996), pp. 19-40.
- Satlow, M.L., '4Q502: A New Year Festival?', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 5 (1998), pp.57-68.
- Satlow, M.L., *Jewish Marriage in Antiquity* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2001).
- Sawyer, J.F.A., Sacred Language and Sacred Texts (London: Routledge, 1999).
- Schechter, S., *Documents of Jewish Sectaries, Vol. 1. Fragments of a Zadokite Work* (Cambridge: at the University Press, 1910).
- Schiffman, L.H., The Halakhah at Qumran. SJLA 16 (Leiden: Brill, 1975).
- Schiffman, L.H., Sectarian Law in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Courts, Testimony and the Penal Code (California: Scholars Press, 1983).
- Schiffman, L.H., The Eschatological Community of the Dead Sea Scrolls: A Study of the Rule of the Congregation. SBLMS 38 (Atlanta: Scholars, 1989).
- Schiffman, L.H., 'The Laws of Vows and Oaths (Num. 30:3-16) in the Zadokite Fragments and the Temple Scroll", *RevQ* 15 (1991, pp. 199-214).
- Schiffman, L.H., 'Laws Pertaining to Women in the Temple Scroll', in *The Dead Sea* Scrolls: Forty Years of Research, ed. D. Dimant, U. Rappaport, Y. Yitshak & B. Tsevi (Leiden: Brill, 1992), pp. 210-228.
- Schiffman, L.H., *Reclaiming the Dead Sea Scrolls: The History of Judaism, the Background of Christianity, the Lost Library of Qumran* (Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1994).

- Schiffman, L.H., *Reclaiming the Dead Sea Scrolls: Their True Meaning for Judaism and Christianity* (London: Anchor Bible, 1995).
- Schiffman, L.H., 'Rule of the Congregation', in *The Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 2, eds. L.H. Schiffman & J.C. VanderKam (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 797-799.
- Schiffman, L.H., 'Prohibited Marriages in the Dead Sea Scrolls and Rabbinic Literature', in Rabbinic Perspectives: Rabbinic Literature and the Dead Sea Scrolls: Proceedings of the Eighth International Symposium of the Orion Centre for the Study of the Dead Sea Scrolls and Associated Literature, 7-9 January, 2003, eds. S.D. Fraade, A. Shemesh & R.A. Clements (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 113-125.
- Schiffman, L.H., 'Laws Pertaining to Women and Sexuality in the Early Stratum of the Damascus Document', in The Dead Sea Scrolls and Contemporary Culture: Proceedings of the International Conference Held at the Israel Museum, Jerusalem July 6-8, 2008, eds. A.D. Roitman, L.H. Schiffman & S. Tzoref (Leiden: Brill, 2011), pp. 547-569.
- Schiffman, L.H., with Charlesworth, J.H. & Gross, A.D., 'Temple Scroll 11Q19 (11T^a)', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls: Hebrew, Aramaic and Greek Texts with English Translation*, Vol. 7, *Temple Scroll and Related Documents*, ed. J.H. Charlesworth, H.W. Rietz & L.L. Johns (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011), pp. 1-173.
- Schofield, A., From Qumran to the Yahad: A New Paradigm of Textual Development for Community Rule. STDJ 77 (Leiden:Brill, 2009).
- Schuller, E.M., 'Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in Methods of Investigation of the Dead Sea Scrolls and the Khirbet Qumran Site: Present Realities and Future Prospects. ANAS 722, ed. M. Wise (New York: New York Academy of Sciences, 1994), pp. 115-132.
- Schuller, E.M., 'Evidence for Women in the Community of the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Voluntary Associations in the Graeco-Roman World* (London: Routledge, 1996), pp. 252-265.
- Schuller, E.M., 'Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls After 50 Years*, Vol. 2, eds. P.W. Flint & J.C. VanderKam (Leiden: Brill, 1999), pp. 117-144).
- Schuller, E.M. 'Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Some Observations from a Dictionary', *Revue de Qumran* 24 (2009), pp. 49-59.
- Schuller, E.M. 'Women in the Dead Sea Scrolls: Research in the Past Decade and Future Directions', in *Dead Sea Scrolls and Contemporary Culture*, eds. A.D. Roitman, L.H. Schiffman & S. Tzoref (Leiden: Brill, 2011), pp. 571-588.
- Schuller, E.M. & Wassen, C., 'Women: Daily Life', in *Encyclopedia of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, Vol. 2, eds. L.H. Schiffman et al (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000), pp. 981-984.
- Schultz, B., 'The Qumran Cemetery: 150 Years of Research', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 13 (2006), pp. 194-228.

- Schultz, B., Conquering the World: The War Scroll (1QM) Reconsidered. STDJ 76 (Leiden: Brill, 2009).
- Schürer, E., The History of the Jewish People in the Age of Jesus Christ (175 B.C. A.D. 135). 3 Vols. Trans. T.A. Burkhill. Edited and revised by G. Vermes & F. Millar (Edinburgh: Clark, 1979).
- Schwartz, D.R., 'Josephus and Nicolaus on the Pharisees', *JSJ* 14 (1983), pp. 157-171.
- Schwartz, D.R., 'Law and Truth: On Qumran Sadducean and Rabinnic Views on Law', in *The Dead Sea Scrolls, Forty Years of Research*. STDJ 10, eds. D.
- Dimant, U. Rappaport, Y. Yitshak & B. Tsevi (Leiden: Brill 1992), pp. 229-240. Schofield, A., *From Qumran to the Yahad* (Leiden: Brill, 2009).
- Scott, J., 'Deconstructing Equality-versus-Difference: Or, the Uses of Poststructuralist Theory for Feminism', *Feminist Studies* 14 (1988), pp. 33-50.
- Scott, S., Making Sense of Everyday Life (Cambridge: Polity, 2009).
- Sedgwick, E.K., 'Queer and Now', in *The Routledge Queer Studies Reader*, eds. D.E. Hall & A. Jagose (London: Routledge, 2013).
- Shamir, O. & Sukenik, N., 'Qumran Textiles and the Garments of Qumran's Inhabitants', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 18, 2 (2011), pp. 206-225.
- Shemesh, A., 'Halakhah Between the Dead Sea Scrolls and Rabinnic Literature', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp. 595-616.
- Sheridan, S.G., 'Scholars, Soldiers, Craftsmen, Elites? Analysis of French Collection of Human Remains from Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 9 (2002), pp. 199-248.
- Sheridan, S.G. & Ullinger, J., 'A Reconsideration of the Human Remains in the French Collection from Qumran', in *Qumran: The Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates: Proceedings of a Conference Held at Brown University, November 17-19, 2002*, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert and J. Zangenberg (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 195-212.
- Sheridan, S.G., Ullinger, J. & Ramp, J., 'Anthropological Analysis of the Human Remains: The French Collection', in *Khirbet Qumran et 'Ain Feshkha: Études d'Anthropologie, de Physique et de Chimie,* eds. J.-B. Humbert & J. Gunneweg (Fribourg: Academic Press, 2003), pp. 129-169.
- Shildrick, M., *Leaky Bodies and Boundaries: Feminism, Postmodernism and* (*Bio*)*ethics* (London: Routledge, 1997).
- Silver, K.K.A. & Lönnqvist, M., 'The Numismatic Chronology of Qumran: Fact and Fiction', *The Numismatic Chronicle* 166 (2006), pp. 121-165.
- Sly, D., *Philo's Perception of Women*, Brown Judaic Studies 209 (Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1990).
- Small, D.B. (ed.), *Methods in the Mediterranean: Historians and Archaeologists' Views on the Use of Texts and Archaeology* (Leiden: Brill, 1995).
- Smith, M., 'The Descriptions of the Essenes in Josephus and the Philosophumena', *HUCA* 29 (1958), pp. 273-313.

- Spalding, R. & Parker, C., *Historiography: An Introduction* (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2007).
- Steckoll, S.H., 'Preliminary Excavation Report in the Qumran Cemetery', *Revue de Qumran* 6 (1968), pp. 323-336.
- Stegemann, H., 'The Qumran Essenes Local Members of the Main Jewish Union in Late Second Temple Times', in *The Madrid Qumran Congress. Proceedings* of the International Congress on the Dead Sea Scrolls, Madrid, 18-21 March, 1991, Vol. 1, eds. J. Trebolle Barrera & L. Vegas Montaner (Leiden: Brill, 1992), pp. 83-166.
- Stegemann, H., 'Some Remarks to 1QSa, to 1QSb, and to Qumran Messianism', *Revue de Qumran* (1996), pp. 479-505).
- Stegemann, H., The Library of Qumran: On the Essenes, Qumran, John the Baptist, and Jesus (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1998).
- Stern, M., *Greek and Latin Authors on Jews and Judaism* (Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 1974).
- Stewart, D.J., 'Does the Priestly Code Domesticate Women?', in *Perspectives on Purity and Purification in the Bible*, eds. B.J. Schwartz, D.P. Wright, J. Stackert & N.S. Meshel (New York: T.&T. Clark International, 2008).
- Stewart, S., Cosmetics and Perfumes in the Roman World (Stroud: Tempus, 2007).
- Sukenik, E.L., Megillot Genuzot I (Jerusalem: Bialik Institute, 1948).
- Sukenik, E.L, Otzar-Ha-Megilloth Ha-Genuzoth (Jerusalem: Bialik, 1954 [Hebrew]).
- Sukenik, E.L. (ed.), *The Dead Sea Scrolls of the Hebrew University* (Jerusalem: Magnes Press, 1955).
- Talmon, S., 'Aspects of the Textual Transmission of the Bible in Light of Qumran Manuscripts', in *Qumran and the History of the Biblical Text*, eds. F.M. Cross & S. Talmon (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1975), pp. 226-263.
- Talmon, S., 'The Community of the Renewed Covenant: Between Judaism and Christianity', in *The Community of the Renewed Covenant: The Notre Dame Symposium on the Dead Sea Scrolls*, ed. E. Ulrich & J.C. VanderKam (Notre Dame, Ind.: University of Notre Dame, 1994), p.11.
- Taylor, J.E. 'The Cemeteries of Khirbet Qumran and Women's Presence at the Site', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 6, 3 (1999), pp. 285-323.
- Taylor, J.E., 'Virgin Mothers: Philo on the Women Therapeutae', *Journal for the Study of the Pseudographia* 12.1 (2001), pp. 37-63.
- Taylor, J.E., Jewish Women Philosophers of First Century Alexandria: Philo's 'Therapeuticae' Reconsidered (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003).
- Taylor, J.E., 'Khirbet Qumran in Period III', in Qumran, the Site of the Dead Sea Scrolls: Archaeological Interpretations and Debates; Proceedings of a Conference Held at Brown University, November 17-19, 2002. STD 57, eds. K. Galor, J.-B. Humbert & J. Zangenberg (Leiden: Brill, 2006), pp. 133-146.
- Taylor, J.E., 'Qumran in Context: Reassessing the Archaeological Evidence', *Bulletin* of the Anglo-Israel Archaeological Society 25 (2007), pp. 171-183.
- Taylor, J.E., 'On Pliny, the Essene Location and Kh. Qumran', *DSD* 19 (2009), pp. 3-24)

- Taylor, J.E., 'The Classical Sources on the Essenes and the Scrolls Communities', in *The Oxford Handbook of the Dead Sea Scrolls*, eds. T.H. Lim & J.J. Collins (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), pp. 173-199.
- Taylor, J.E., 'Women, Children, and Celibate Men in the Serekh Texts', The Harvard Theological Review 104, 2 (2011a), pp. 171-190.
- Taylor, J.E., 'Buried Manuscripts and Empty Tombs: The Qumran *Genizah* Theory Revisited', in *Go Out and Study the Land (Judges 18:2). Archaeological, Historical and Textual Studies in Honor of Hanan Eshel.* Supplements for the Journal for the Study of Judaism, Vol. 148 (eds. A.M. Maeir, J. Magness & L. Schiffman (Leiden: Brill, 2011b, pp. 269-315.
- Taylor, J.E., *The Essenes, the Scrolls, and the Dead Sea* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012).
- Taylor, J.E., 'Introduction', in *The Body in Biblical, Christian and Jewish Texts*, LSTS 85, ed. J.E. Taylor (London: T.&.T. Clark, 2014), pp. xv-xxi.
- The Israel Museum, Jerusalem, The Shrine of the Book. <u>https://www.imj.org.il/en/wings/shrine-book/dead-sea-scrolls</u> (Accessed 20th October, 2022).
- *The New Oxford Annotated Bible: New Revised Standard Version with the Apocrypha*, ed. M.D. Coogan, 5th edn. (New York: Oxford University Press, 2018).
- Tilley, C.Y., A Phenomenology of Landscape (Oxford: Berg, 1994).
- Tirosh-Samuelson, H., 'Introduction: Jewish Philosophy in Conversation with Feminism, in *Women and Gender in Jewish Philosophy*, ed. H. Tirosh-Samuelson (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 2004), pp. 1-27.
- Tosato, A., 'Su di una norma matrimoniale 4QD', Biblica 74 (1993), pp. 401-410.
- Tov, E., Scribal Practices and Approaches Reflected in the Texts Found in the Judaean Desert. STDJ 54 (Leiden: Brill, 2004).
- Ubigli, L.R., 'Il Documento Di Damasco e L'Etica Coniugale: A Proposito di un Nuovo Passo Qumranico', *Henoch* XIV (1992), pp. 3-10.
- Ullmann-Margalit, E., *Out of the Cave. A Philosophical Inquiry into the Dead Sea Scrolls Research* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2006).
- Ullmann-Margalit, E., 'Spotlight on Scrolls Scholars: Dissecting the Qumran-Essene Hypothesis', *Biblical Archaeology Review* 34, 2 (2008), pp. 63-67.
- VanderKam, J.C., The Dead Sea Scrolls Today (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1994).
- VanderKam, J.C., *The Dead Sea Scrolls Today*, 2nd edn. (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010).
- VanderKam, J.C. & Flint, P., *The Meaning of the Dead Sea Scrolls* (New York: Harper Collins, 2004).
- Vermes, G., 'Sectarian Matrimonial Halakhah in the Damascus Rule', *JJS* 25 (1974), pp. 197-202).
- Vermes, G., The Dead Sea Scrolls: Qumran in Perspective (London: Collins, 1977).
- Vermes, G., *The Dead Sea Scrolls: Qumran in Perspective* (London: Fortress, 1981).

- Vermes, G. & Goodman, M., *The Essenes According to Classical Sources* (Sheffield: JSOT Press, 1989).
- Vermes, G., *The Complete Dead Sea Scrolls in English*. Rev. Edn., trans. G. Vermes (London: Penguin Classics, 2011).
- Wachholder, B.Z. & Abegg, M., A Preliminary Edition of the Unpublished Dead Sea Scrolls: The Hebrew and Aramaic Texts from Cave Four: Fascicle One (Washington DC: Biblical Archaeology Society, 1991).
- Wassén, C., Women in the Damascus Document (Atlanta: SBL Press, 2005).
- Wassén, C., 'On the Education of Children in the Dead Sea Scrolls', *Studies in Religion* 41 (2012), pp. 350-363.
- Wassén, C., 'Do You Have to be Pure in a Metaphorical Temple? Sanctuary Metaphors and Constructions of Sacred Space in the Dead Sea Scrolls and Paul's Letters', in *Purity, Holiness, and Identity in Judaism and Christianity*, ed. C.S. Ehrlich. WUNT 305 (Tübingen: Môhr Siebeck, 2013), pp. 55-87.
- Wassén, C., 'The Importance of Marriage in the Construction of Sectarian Identity in the Dead Sea Scrolls', in *Social Memory and Social Identity in the Study of Early Judaism and Early Christianity*, eds. S. Byrskog, R. Hakola & J. Jokiranta (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2016a), pp. 127-150.
- Wassén, C., 'The (Im)purity Levels of Communal Meals Within the Qumran Movement', *Journal of Ancient Judaism* 7, 1 (2016b), pp. 102-122.
- Wassén, C., 'Women, Worship, Wilderness, and War', in Sibyls, Scriptures, and Scrolls: John Collins at Seventy. JSJSup 175, eds. J. Baden, H. Najman & E.J.C. Tigchelaar (Leiden: Brill, 2017), pp. 1361-1385.
- Wassén, C. & Jokiranta, J., 'Groups in Tension: Sectarianism in the Damascus Document and the Community Rule', in *Sectarianism in Early Judaism: Sociological Advances*, ed. D.J. Chalcraft (London: Equinox, 2007), pp. 205-245.
- Wegner, Judith Romney, *Chattel or Person: The Status of Women in the Misnah* (Oxford: Oxford Univerity Press, 1988).
- Werrett, I., Ritual Purity and the Dead Sea Scrolls. STDj 72 (Leiden: Brill, 2007).
- Werrett, I. 'The Evolution of Purity at Qumran', in *Purity and the Forming of Religious Traditions.* DHR 3, eds. C. Frevel & C. Nihan (Leiden: Brill, pp. 493-518.
- Wilson, B., 'An Analysis of Sect Development', *American Sociological Review* 24 (1959), pp. 3-15.
- Wilson, B., *The Social Dimensions of Sectarianism: Sects and New Religious Movements in Contemporary Society* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1990).
- Wilson, E., *The Dead Sea Scrolls* 1947-1969 (London: Collins Fontana Library, 1969).
- Worrell, J., "Counsel" or "Council" at Qumran?', *Vetus Tetamentum* 20 (1970), pp. 65-74).
- Wright, B.G., 'Wisdom and Women at Qumran', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 11, 2 (2004), pp. 240-261.
- Wyke, M., 'Introduction', in *Parchments of Gender: Deciphering the Bodies of Antiquity*, ed. M. Wyke (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998).

- Yadin, Y., *The Scroll of the War of the Sons of Light Against the Sons of Darkness* (London: Oxford University Press, 1962).
- Yadin, Y., Bar-Kokhba: The Rediscovery of the Legendary Hero of the Last Jewish Revolt Against Imperial Rome (London: Weidenfeld & Nicholson, 1971).
- Yadin, Y., *The Temple Scroll, I-III* (Jerusalem: Israel Exploration Society and the Shrine of the Book, 1977-1983).
- Yadin, Y., *The Temple Scroll: The Hidden Law of the Dead Sea Sect* (London: Weidenfeld, 1985).
- Yardeni, A., 'A Note on a Qumran Scribe', in New Seals and Inscriptions, Hebrew, Idumean, and Cuneiform, ed. M. Lubetski (Sheffield: Sheffield Phoenix Press, 2007), pp. 287-300.
- Yuzefovsky, B., 'The Metal Finds', in *Back to Qumran, Final Report (1993-2004)*, eds. Y. Magen & Y. Peleg (Jerusalem: Israel Antiquities Authority, 2018), pp. 387-401.
- Zangenberg, J., 'Bones of Contention', *The Qumran Chronicle* 9.1 (2000a), pp. 51-76.
- Zangenberg, J., 'Qazone Tombs, Grave Doubts', BAR 26.1 (2000b), p. 66.
- Zangenberg, J., 'Opening up our View: Khirbet Qumran in a Regional Perspective', in *Religion and Society in Roman Palestine: Old Questions and New Approaches*, ed. D.R. Edwards (New York and London, 2004), pp. 170-188.
- Zias, J.E., 'The Cemeteries of Qumran and Celibacy: Confusion Laid to Rest?', *Dead Sea Discoveries* 7 (2000), pp.220-253.
- Zias, J.E., 'Qumran Archaeology: Skeletons with Multiple Personality Disorders and Other Grave Errors', *Revue de Qumran* 21 (2003), pp. 83-98.